
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web: www.dartford.gov.uk 

 
 
 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

 
 

Councillor S N Gosine (Chairman) 
Councillor B Garden (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor E H Ben Moussa 
Councillor J Burrell 
Councillor S P Butterfill 
Councillor R M Currans 
Councillor Paul Cutler 
Councillor C S McLean 
Councillor D T Nicklen 
Councillor A J Oakley-Dow 
 

Councillor V Oguntope 
Councillor T Oliver 
Councillor Mrs J A Ozog 
Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor L J Reynolds 
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE 
Councillor Mrs R F Storey 
 

 
 
 
 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on 

 
Tuesday 9 July 2019 

 
 

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford 

 
 
 



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 



 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Tuesday 9 July 2019 
 
 

1. Apologies for Absence   

 

2. Declarations of Interest   

 

 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 
 

 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 
2018  

(Pages 1 - 
12) 

 

4. Chairman's Introduction   

 

 The Chairman Councillor Sacha Gosine will address Members. 
 

 

5. Committee's Terms of Reference (ToRs)  (Pages 13 
- 16) 

 

 To note the Terms of Reference for the Committee as agreed at the 
Annual Meeting of the Council on 22 May 2019. 
 

 

6. Urgent Items   

 

 The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda.  
 

 

7. To consider references from other Committees (if any)   

 

 There are no references from other Committees for Members to 
consider. 
 

 

8. Regulation 9 Notice  (Pages 17 
- 20) 

 

 To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice [formerly the Forward 
Plan] for the period 14 June 2019 to 31 October 2019. 
 
 

 



 

9. Princes Park Annual Update 2018-19  (Pages 21 
- 30) 

 

 To receive an update on the performance of Dartford Football Club in 
Prices Park for the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019, under the 
present lease and Service Level Agreement with the Council.  
 

 

10. Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-19  (Pages 31 
- 48) 

 

 To consider the draft annual report of the work undertaken by the 
Committee in the preceding 2018-19 municipal year for approval and 
submission to the General Assembly of the Council.  
 

 

11. Scrutiny Committee Protocol  (Pages 49 
- 74) 

 

 To note the Committee’s Protocol attached at Appendix A to the 
report. 
 

 

12. Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and 
Combined Authorities  

(Pages 75 
- 108) 

 

 To note the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
guidance attached at Appendix A to the covering report.  
 

 

13. Committee Rolling Work Programme for 2019-20 and Beyond  (Pages 
109 - 112) 

 

 To review and comment on the draft rolling Work Plan for the 
Committee for the ensuing 2019-20 municipal year (Appendix to the 
report).  
 

 

 



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 20 November 
2018 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor P Cutler
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor J Jones
Councillor Mrs. M B Kelly
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor C S McLean

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio Holder for Strategic 
Council Finances & Major Capital Projects

19. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors S R Jarnell 
and C S McLean. 

Members were also informed that the Leader of the Council,  the Community 
Safety Manager and the Leisure & Communities Officer, were unable to 
attend proceedings due to illness.

The Chairman welcomed attending Committee Members and Councillor Lloyd 
as Cabinet representative to the proceedings and noted the presence of the 
Strategic Director (External Services) and the Waste & Parks Manager to 
respond to Members questions. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

2

20. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

21. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 18 
SEPTEMBER 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Scrutiny Committee meeting held on 18 September 
2018 be confirmed as accurate.

22. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration.

23. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other committees.

24. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman proposed that agenda items 8 and 9 be taken last in the 
unfortunate absence of the presenting officer.

25. REGULATION 9 NOTICE [WP] 

RESOLVED: 

That Members note the contents of the Forward Plan for the period 15 
October 2018 to 28 February 2019.

26. UTILISATION AND RENEWAL OF PUBLIC LITTER BINS [DRAW-DOWN] 

The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn-down the topic on behalf 
of his Group, given the number of enquiries and weight of correspondence he 
continued to receive from residents in his Ward, regarding the provision of 
litter and dog waste bins by the Council. He understood that this was also the 
experience of other Members. 

He wished to examine and discuss the Council’s existing litter bin regime, and 
how the current arrangements might move forward and be improved for the 
future, and asked the Waste & Parks Manager to summarise the main points 
in his report for Members [agenda item 10 pages 45/46].

The Waste & Parks Manager highlighted the following principal points for 
Members as set out in his report:



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

3

 There were some 700 litter bins distributed across the Borough used 
for both litter and dog waste [previously separate]. The Borough 
Council  provided the majority of the bins, supplemented by 
Parish/Town Councils locally and by private enterprise;

 The current distribution of litter bins across the Borough had evolved 
over time, in response to Member and resident concerns, and 
expressions of perceived need;

 The Council received between 3-5 requests per month from residents 
for increased litter-bin provision. The majority of residents wanted litter 
and dog-waste bins, but generally not situated near to their properties;

 Litter bins were emptied by the Council’s contractors on a daily, 
multiple day, or weekly basis as appropriate, depending on the volume 
of litter and dog waste deposited;  

 Amey LG Ltd emptied the majority of the 700 litter bins in the urban 
environment, Continental Landscapes emptied the litter bins in Central 
and Hesketh Parks, and CPM Ltd were contracted to empty the litter 
bins in Dartford’s 27 school playgrounds;

 All street litter - plastic, paper and bottles went into the same litter bins, 
together with dog waste, there was no statistical breakdown for the 
component elements of street litter.

In response to subsequent specific questions from Members the Waste & 
Parks Manager confirmed the following points:

 There was no map showing the location of the litter bins in the 
Borough;

 All non-recyclable waste from litter bins (including dog waste) was 
bulked up at Pepperhill Household Waste & Recycling Centre for 
subsequent transfer to Maidstone for incineration;

 The frequency for emptying litter bins was decided by the Waste & 
Parks Manager (given the fiscal implications) based on feedback from 
the contractors - some bins e.g. in the town centre were emptied daily, 
others e.g. at train stations were emptied up to 3 times per week, 
others only once per week - based on usage;

 Use by businesses of public litter bins was monitored where possible, 
and Enforcement Officers visited offending businesses to remind them 
of their obligation to have their own waste disposal arrangements for 
their commercial use;

 Previous issues with Continental Landscapes over the emptying of litter 
bins in Dartford’s parks had now been resolved.

The Chairman noted that there was no formal policy or procedure in place for 
the provision of new litter and dog bins [report para 3.8 agenda p. 45/46]. He 
expressed his concern regarding the lack of a formal process, and asked 
whether the replacement of litter bins was a reactive or proactive (intelligence 
led) process. He also asked what factors were used to determine the siting of 
new litter/dog waste bins.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

4

The Waste & Parks Manager confirmed that the replacement of dual litter/dog 
waste bins and the provision of new or additional bins, was a reactive process 
based on a number of factors and considerations:

 Was there already a bin at a location;
 How many shops/schools were located nearby;
 Was the location of the existing/proposed bin on a route used by 

school/college pupils;
 If so, were there shops nearby that those pupils used, particularly fast 

food outlet and/or convenience stores.

Complaints of [repeated] dog littering from residents in a specific location 
were taken into consideration when considering new bin provision. Increased 
bin provision was also considered by officers during the planning application 
process for new fast food outlets, which tended to generate increased levels 
of littering.  Littering in private areas or where a road had yet to be ‘adopted’ 
were not the responsibility of the Council.

In response to a follow-up question from a Member regarding examples of 
pro-active Council policy, including going forward, and whether that future 
policy would be periodically checked, against developments in the litter and 
re-cycling field; the Waste & Parks Manager advised the following:

 Litter bin cost varied from £25 to as much as £5,000 for a ‘Big-Belly’ 
solar-powered bin with a crushing/compacting capacity – Dartford 
purchased towards the low-cost end of the litter bin market;

 Re-cycling efforts were being pushed across the Borough, but research 
showed that multi-compartment bins did not work well with residents, 
were labour intensive for contractors to empty, and consequently costly 
for the Council to install and run;

 The Council’s present policy and for the future was straight forward: to 
purchase good quality standard litter and re-cycling bins that were 
economically priced;

 The Council’s litter bin policy had been evolved by Officers over time 
based on their experience of what worked, it was not politically driven. 
Experience had shown that ‘simple was best’ and worked well, both for 
the Council and for residents. The more complex a litter collection 
process became, the greater opportunity for error, leading to resident 
dissatisfaction and eventually complaints.

The Waste & Parks Manager confirmed the following points in response to a 
number of further wide-ranging questions from individual Members:

 The Council did not accrue increased recycling credits from KCC in 
direct proportion to any increased tonnage of non-recyclable 
compacted waste that was  processed at the KCC plant in Maidstone 
(or elsewhere) following transfer from Pepperhill;

 Any increased costs for the expanded recovery and processing of 
recyclable waste at Pepperhill [re-opened in September 2018] would 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

5

fall to the Council: principally in the provision of new more complex 
compartmentalised or separate re-cycling bins and the resultant 
increased collection costs paid to contractors;

 Complaints from residents regarding the litter collection process as a 
whole, remained at 10-15 per month, which on a 2,000 bin per week 
collection operation was considered low.

The Chairman next addressed the topic of the Council’s review of its current 
litter operation as notified by Cabinet but, to his recollection not yet reported 
on.

The Waste & Parks Manager advised Members that the Council’s Review of 
Litter for Dartford as a whole remained ongoing. A mini review of the Town 
Centre had been completed and a joint review with Wilmington Parish Council 
was progressing, with similar joint reviews with all Parishes to follow in due 
course.

In response to specific questions from the Chairman and Members, he 
confirmed the following points:

 The purpose of the Review was to determine the present location of all 
bins [some pre-dated the 1980s] 

 The number of proposed new litter bins was not yet known;
 There was scope in his existing annual budget for bin replacement, 

with recourse to greater funding on a needs basis as required;
 The priorities remained replacing small lidless bins attached to 

lampposts and bus stops, then other larger lidless bins on a like for like 
basis, with good quality robust bins from the economical end of the 
market;

 Not all litter bins would be replaced - many were in a good condition;
 The Town Centre, Longfield and Swanscombe retail areas benefited 

from metal bins on a perceived needs basis.

The Chairman thanked the Waste & Parks manager for his report and for his 
open and frank responses to Members’ questions, and asked that the Minutes 
of the meeting be referred to Cabinet for response in due course.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report;
2. That the Minutes of the meeting be referred to Cabinet for comment in 

due course.

27. COUNCIL'S MODERN ANTI-SLAVERY AND HUMAN TRAFFICKING 
STATEMENT [DRAW-DOWN] 

The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn-down the Council’s 
Statement on ‘Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking’ on behalf of his 
Group in recognition of UK Anti-Slavery Day [18 October] and for the 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

6

Committee to examine whether the Council’s performance in these policy 
areas fulfilled the terms of its Statement, including their interactions with 
suppliers and partners, and whether there was any scope for more to be done 
in that respect. Depending on the outcome of their discussions, the 
Committee might wish to make a recommendation to Cabinet.

The Chairman opened the debate by stating that it was hugely positive that 
the Council had published their own Statement regarding ‘Modern Anti-
Slavery and Human Trafficking’ measures, procedures and practices. He 
noted that many Councils had not done so and invited the Cabinet Member 
present and the Strategic Director (External Services) to brief Members on the 
objectives of the Council’s policy, as enshrined in its Statement [Agenda 
pages 47-53].

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised the Committee that she 
was not an expert on ‘Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking’ but was 
able to give Members the background to the Council’s decision to publish a 
Statement, and also outline how her responsibilities as SD(ES) led to her 
involvement with and oversight of the Council’s Statement.

On a personal working level, the Strategic Director (External Services) was 
Chair of the Council’s corporate Safeguarding Steering Group and was 
heavily involved, on behalf of the Council, with the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP).  A principal part of the CSP’s work was to agree and 
publish an Annual Strategic Assessment document which addressed, inter 
alia, Safeguarding, Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking issues in the 
Borough, how to identify them and the measures and resources required to 
address these issues together with CSP partners such as Kent Police and 
KCC.

At the time of publication of the parent legislation [Modern Slavery Act 2015] it 
had not been clear what demands the Act imposed on local authorities. The 
Council had decided to adopt its strictures as ‘good working practice’ and to 
demonstrate its willingness to address the issues the Act covered. 

Since publication of its first Statement in 2017 the Council’s policy had been 
one of promoting awareness and greater understanding of the subjects to its 
officers. Officers in the Community Safety Unit (CSU), Housing and 
Environmental Health services in particular, who potentially encountered the 
various issues on a daily basis whilst working in the community, had been 
equipped with the skills to recognise and appropriately reports concerns of 
potential modern day slavery and human trafficking. The Council had 
engaged outside experts in the field and liaised closely with colleagues from 
partner agencies to build up a greater awareness of the issues, and how to 
respond. 

A Briefing Note to Members was an example of the Council raising awareness 
of the issues and who to contact when encountering them in their Wards and 
elsewhere. The most recent example of the Council raising awareness of the 
issues in the community, was the interactive training of licensed cab drivers in 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

7

the Borough by Licencing Officers, in conjunction with colleagues from Kent 
Fire & Rescue and Kent Police. Licensed cab drivers had a key observer role 
to play in observing a wide range of possible offences that could give rise to 
concerns across the range of safeguarding subjects. The training enabled 
them to become more aware of passenger activity, how to interpret it and to 
think pro-actively in terms of reporting any concerns to the appropriate 
authorities.

The Council had also examined its relationships with existing contractors and 
suppliers, and procurement procedures required them to look at the Council 
Statement and ensure that their activities met the Council’s thresholds in 
terms of preventing modern day slavery and human trafficking. Since adoption 
of the Act’s strictures, and publication of the Council’s first Statement in 2017, 
only one major procurement exercise had been undertaken by the authority, 
but a safeguarding element had been including in the letting terms for that 
contract, and the Council was in the process of updating all its procurement 
forms to better support its Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human 
Trafficking.

 The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director) for her detailed and 
comprehensive briefing of the Committee and proposed that Members now 
examine in detail, what was currently happening in the Dartford community [in 
terms of modern slavery and human trafficking] and what specific measures 
the Council was taking to combat these practices, via its procurement 
processes. 

The Deputy Shadow Leader advised Members that the Co-operative Group 
were taking a lead in combating both modern day slavery and human 
trafficking. The Group estimated that some 136,000 individuals were presently 
subjected to the practices in the UK with the majority of victims being British 
born women and children. Recent arrests in Dover and West Malling testified 
to the practices taking place elsewhere in Kent and undoubtedly Dartford, in 
car washes and nail bars. He was heartened by the fact that the Council had 
a Statement on these issues and asked how it was reviewed on an annual 
basis [Statement - para 10 agenda pages 52/53].

The Strategic Director explained that the Council’s present three performance 
indicators (PIs) used to measure how effective the Council had been in 
ensuring slavery and human trafficking were not taking place in any part of its 
business or supply chains [Statement para 10.1.1-3 refers]; had been chosen 
based upon what could be measured and on what other organisations were 
doing; although there were relatively few district authority examples to draw 
upon. 

She advised that the Council had not received any reports of slavery or 
human trafficking in the Borough in the period under review to date, but 
advised Members that the Statement was only reflective of the Council’s own 
position and activities. She was open to suggestions from Members on what 
might be incorporated into the 2019-20 Statement.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

8

In response to an expression of concern from the Vice-Chairman, regarding 
the appropriate prioritisation of Council resources; the Strategic Director 
advised Members that the Council was under a legal obligation to work with 
partners to meet its safeguarding obligations in all its work areas and to report 
any/all instances of abuse it encountered. Safeguarding measures were now 
implanted into all of the Council’s daily processes and procedures, and 
specific training was given to Council Officers who worked externally in the 
community, and were more likely to encounter the issues in the course of their 
daily duties. She considered that this created very little additional work for the 
Council as a whole.    

A Member judged the Council’s response on these crucial issues to be 
appropriate in terms of staff training, and he commended in particular, the 
Council’s initiative [together with Kent Fire & Rescue and Kent Police] to 
educate and enhance the awareness of taxi/mini cab drivers operating in the 
Borough to the issues of modern day slavery and human trafficking and how 
to combat them. Developing that theme, he asked what the Council perceived 
as its role in educating outside business to these issues.

The Strategic Director (External Services) advised that the relevant Council 
Officers engaged with business managers in the Borough over specific 
issues, and that a broader inter-action with business as a whole, was 
conducted through the Council’s public website which could be used to bring 
the issues, more generally, to the attention of business.

In response to a separate question she advised that inter-action with churches 
over the issues was more problematical. Some churches reacted positively to 
the Council’s overtures some did not, whilst others were difficult to engage at 
all. Who to contact in the event of concerns, had been detailed in the recent 
Briefing Note to Members. She confirmed that she was the Council’s 
Safeguarding Champion, Tony Henley as Community Safety Manager was 
the operational lead in terms of safeguarding children, modern day slavery 
and human trafficking, and Peter Dosad as Head of Housing Services, was 
the operational lead for adult safeguarding.  

In response to a specific question from the Chairman, the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects confirmed that 
the Council’s Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking was 
endorsed by Cabinet and that the Council was seeking to continually improve 
its best practice over these issues, through the annual review process 
[Statement para 10 final sub-para, agenda p.53].

In response to further questions from individual Members, the Strategic 
Director (External Services) confirmed the following points:

 Traders who operated by permit or concession in the High Street, at 
Dartford Festival and/or other Council managed events in Dartford, 
were made aware of the Council’s thresholds on safeguarding issues, 
but the Council was not able to investigate their supply chains;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

9

 The Council could withhold or not renew permits e.g. to market traders 
seeking to operate/continue to operate in the Borough, but would need 
to have ‘good cause’ to take such action.

The Chairman saw an inherent risk for the Council in measuring the scale of 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the Borough by the fact that no 
reports of such activity had been recorded in the previous 12 month period. 
He asked when the fact of ‘no reports’ became a concern for the Council, 
rather than a re-assurance that its measures (as set out in its current 
Statement) were effective. Was there a danger that incidences of both 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the Dartford community were not 
being picked up by the Council.

The Strategic Director (External Services) reminded Members that the current 
Statement enshrined the Council’s procedures and practices to combat 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the conduct of its own business, 
its suppliers and partners. The Council Statement did not seek to govern the 
wider Dartford community nor could it. If there was no Council connection to 
an alleged incidence of either abhorrent practice, the Council would/could not 
make a report. 

The Chairman saw scope for the adoption of a holistic approach to tackle both 
issues. He noted in this respect, that the Council’s Statement made no 
reference to a person’s freedom to join a trade union in its measures. He 
suggested that membership of a trade union provided a person with the 
greatest protection against the dangers of being subjected to modern day 
slavery or human trafficking and he proposed that the measure be added to 
the Council’s Statement to enhance its effectiveness.

Other Members saw dangers for smaller and medium sized businesses in the 
Borough, if trade union membership was made obligatory and believed the 
topic was covered by national legislation, and not therefore the remit of local 
authorities. 

The Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital 
Projects saw value in supporting the suggestion that the Council encouraged 
its suppliers to allow representation, not necessarily by a trade union, for its 
workforce.

The Strategic Director (External Services) noted the Chairman’s proposal and 
the comments of other Member’s including the Cabinet Portfolio Holder. She 
advised that the Council could not interfere in the internal running of other 
organisation, bodies and companies in terms of trade union membership for 
its employees. However, the Council did ask its own suppliers and partners to 
sign-up to its safe-guarding ethos and thresholds, and she undertook to 
consider the suggestion of representation for inclusion in the next annual 
review of the Council’s current Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human 
Trafficking measures, due to be undertaken in September 2019.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

10

The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director (External Services) and 
Members for their contribution to a useful discussion of the Council’s current 
Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking measures. He 
noted the Council’s existing proactive measures as set-out in the Statement, 
and the assurances of the Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the SD(ES) that the 
proposals made by Members that evening would form part of Officer’s annual 
review process of the current Statement, due in September 2019.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the Council’s current Statement on 
Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking measures attached as 
Item 11 in the Agenda [pages 47-54];

2. That Members note the existing annual review process for the 
Council’s Statement next due to be undertaken in September 2019.

28. ORCHARD THEATRE ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS FOR THE YEAR 
ENDING 31 MARCH 2018 [WP] 

The covering report from the Leisure & Communities Officer attached as 
Appendices A, B and C respectively:

(i) The Council’s Monitoring Schedule for monitoring the  provision of 
Services by HQ Theatre & Hospitality (HQT&H) for The Orchard 
Theatre Dartford Ltd (Appendix A to the report);

(ii) The Orchard Theatre Director’s Annual Report for the period 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 2018 (Appendix B to the report);

(iii)Orchard Theatre Dartford Ltd – Profit Share at 31 March 2018 
(Appendix C to the report).

In the unfortunate absence of the report author due to illness, the Chairman 
asked Members to consider the report and Appendices as submitted in the 
Agenda.

Members expressed their appreciation of the Orchard Theatre Director’s 
annual report for 2017/18 and the efforts of his team, and asked that this be 
recorded in the Minutes.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the 2017/18 Annual Report for the 
Orchard Theatre Dartford as set out in Appendix B to the covering 
report;

2. That Members note the Profit Share at 31 March 2018 for the Orchard 
Theatre Dartford Ltd as set out in Appendix C to the report. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 20 NOVEMBER 2018

11

29. DARTFORD CRICKET CLUB [WP] 

The covering report from the Leisure & Communities Officer enclosed a 
Community Use Information (CUI) sheet from Dartford Cricket Club (DCC) 
dated October 2018 at Appendix A to the report.

Following publication of the agenda, DCC had issued a revised CUI for 
October 2018 which was distributed to Members under separate cover as an 
Addendum. Members confirmed that they had received the revised material.

The Chairman asked if Members had any questions on the report and revised 
Appendix in the absence of the Leisure & Communities officer, they did not.

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the contents of the report and revised Appendix A 
from Dartford Cricket Club dated October 2018.  

30. SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ROLLING WORK PLAN 2018-19 [WP] 

The report from the Committee Co-ordinator attached at Appendix A an 
updated Rolling Work Plan for 2018-19 and beyond. 

He advised Members that currently, there were no scheduled Work Plan items 
for the Committee’s meeting on 19 February 2019.

The Chairman asked Members to suggest topics for the February 2019 
meeting, in addition to any items proposed via the agreed Draw-Down 
process, as set out in the Committee’s Protocol. 

RESOLVED:

1. That Members note the report and the contents of the Committee’s 
current Rolling Work Plan, as set out in Appendix A to the report.

The meeting closed at 8.29 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN





APPENDIX J(i) 
D A R T F O R D   B O R O U G H   C O U N C I L 

ANNUAL MEETING 
22 May 2019 

 
STANDING COMMITTEES, BOARDS AND PANELS 

OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL unless otherwise stated in these Terms of 
Reference] 
 
Chairman:  Councillor S N Gosine 
Vice-Chairman: Councillor B Garden 
Membership:  Councillors E H Ben Moussa, J Burrell, S P Butterfill, R M 

Currans, P Cutler, C S McLean, D T Nicklen, A J Oakley-
Dow, V Oguntope, T Oliver, J A Ozog, D J Reynolds, L J 
Reynolds, A S Sandhu MBE and Mrs R F Storey 

 
 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE  
[REPORTING TO COUNCIL] 
 
TERMS OF REFERENCE: 
DELEGATED FUNCTIONS: 
 
1. To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed in 

the Committee's Protocol and specifically, the following overarching principles: 
 

The scrutiny of any matter: 
 

(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  services to the local community; 
(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to 

reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community; 
(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services. 

 
2. To submit reports to the Council on the following; 
 

(a) any Cabinet decision which is likely to give rise to expenditure or savings above such 
thresholds as agreed by the Council; 

 
(b)  a Cabinet decision which is likely to have a significant impact on two or more Wards; 
 
(c) a non-urgent departure decision(s) which is; 

 
(i) a Cabinet decision(s) (not yet implemented) which is contrary to the policy 

framework/budget; 
 
 (ii) a Cabinet decision(s) (which has been implemented) and which is considered to 

be contrary to the policy framework/budget). 



NB: The Council has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly consistent with the budget 
or policy framework approved/adopted by the Council.  

3. To appoint in accordance with Standing Order 58(4) such sub-committee(s) as the 
Committee considers appropriate to fulfil the scrutiny functions of the Committee. 

 
4. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 

decisions proposed and/or action to be taken in accordance with the Call-in mechanism 
detailed in the Committee's Protocol. 

 
5. To hold the Cabinet to account for the discharge of its executive functions by scrutinising 

decisions after implementation i.e. post decision scrutiny, in accordance with the 
Committee's Protocol for the following purposes only: 

 
(a) to seek more understanding of the decision and its implications; 

 
(b) to question the soundness of the decision; 

 
(c) to identify the need for Council policies to guide delegated decisions; 

 
(d) to examine the effect and outcomes of the decision e.g. enquire into grants awarded 

by the Cabinet to voluntary organisations in the Borough to see how effectively 
expenditure has been targeted; 

 
(e) to make recommendations, including proposals for changes to policies or practices, 

to the Cabinet. 
 

NB: A decision(s) may only be scrutinised once. 
 
6. To scrutinise the discharge of any other functions of the Council in accordance with the 

mechanism(s) detailed in the Committee's Protocol. 
 
7. To seek comments from other Committees/Boards in order to obtain a balanced view of 

the effects of Council policy and Cabinet decisions. 
 
8. Where appropriate, and as part of the community consultation process, to seek input from 

Councillors (including Members of the Cabinet), Officers, other interested stakeholders 
and organisations and by drawing on the knowledge of constituents’ views. 

 
9. To receive finalised documents relating to a key decision(s) in the Cabinet's forward plan. 
 
10. To scrutinise Cabinet forward plans with a view to deciding which, if any, of the forthcoming 

Cabinet decisions the Committee wishes to enquire into. 
 
11. To report annually to the Council on the work of the Committee. 
 
12. To consider Monitoring Officer reports about lawfulness or maladministration, which relate 

to Cabinet functions and consider whether to hold a short enquiry into the matter the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it. 

 
13. To approve an annual scrutiny work programme in accordance with Standing Order 58(8) 

including the programme of any sub-committee appointed by the Committee to ensure that 
there is efficient use of the Committee's (sub-committee's) time and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised. 



14. Health Scrutiny Functions 
 

To scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service in the Borough of Dartford, in accordance with the Local Authority (Public Health, 
Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. 

 
15. Discussion/Consultation Papers 
 

To respond to discussion/consultation papers relating to matters connected/associated 
with the functions of the Committee (i.e. scrutiny) in accordance with the procedure set out 
in Consultation/Discussion Papers Protocol. 

 
16. Councillor Calls for Action 

 
Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule referred to in the Committee’s Protocol, to consider 
any local government matter referred to the Committee by a local ward Member, under the 
Councillor Call for Action provisions in the Committee’s Protocol.  
 
NB: the matter must be a genuine, significant and persistent community concern referred 
to the Committee as a last resort, because the usual channels for raising the concern e.g. 
Council Officers, Cabinet, partner organisations etc. have been unsuccessful.   
 

 

 





14 June 2019 - 31 October 2019

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Housing
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Youth, Health & Wellbeing
Councillor S H Brown, Portfolio: Waste & Environment
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Finance
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Arts & Culture
Councillor R J Wells, Portfolio: Community Safety

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.  

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of Council Tax

To consider writing-off Council Tax 
where it has not been possible to 
obtain payment because of 
insolvency, because the council tax 
payer cannot be traced or where the 
debt is otherwise irrecoverable. 

Cabinet
25 Jul 2019

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)





 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

9 JULY 2019 
 

PRINCES PARK-DARTFORD FOOTBALL CLUB ANNUAL REPORT 
2018/19 

 

 
Ward: Brent 
 

   
1.   To consider the Dartford Football Club Annual report 2018/19 and ancillary 

matters.  
 

2.  RECOMMENDATION 

That the contents of the Dartford Football Annual Club Report 2018/19, at 
Appendix A, be noted. 

 

 
3. Background and Discussion 

 
3.1 The lease for Dartford Football Club (covering the whole of Princes 

Park, with the exception of the mini pitches) was completed in March 
2012 and expires on 31 January 2034. 

 
3.2 The Service Level Agreement (excluding the mini pitches) between the 

Council and the Dartford Football Club expires in March 2020. The 
Service Level Agreement requires an annual report from Dartford 
Football Club. 
 

3.3 The Council received a grant from the Football Foundation, which part 
funded the build of the mini pitches. A requirement of the grant, is the 
Council has to account for all income and expenditure relating to the 
mini pitches. A three year agreement is in place with Dartford Football 
Club until 31 March 2020, to manage the mini pitches. 

 
3.4 The Council grant payable to Dartford Football Club in 2018/19 was 

£90,000 and shall remain for 2019/20. 
 
The Dartford Football club’s net income for the mini pitches, for the 
financial year 2018/19, was £38,214.  
 

3.5 The Dartford Football Club’s annual report for 2018/19, is at Appendix 
A. 

 
4   Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

HW2 Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities 

 
5 Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 



 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

9 JULY 2019 
 
 

Financial Implications None specifically from this report 

Legal Implications None specifically from this report 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment None specifically from this report 

 
 
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 
 Appendix A – Dartford Football Club Report 2018/19 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section 
and 

Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Stephen Jefferson 

 
Policy & 
Corporate 
Support 

N/A 

 



APPENDIX A 

Princes Park June 18 – May 2019. Compiled by Jack Smedley, Dartford Football Club Operations 

Manager.  

Gate attendances July 2018 - May 2019: 25,816 – This was a full set of league fixtures and friendlies, 

no cup games. 

Golf usage: April 2018 - March 2019: 448 rounds by members / loyalty cards holders, 652 pay on 

gate rounds – the golf course has improved massively under the new management, Paul Page Golf 

Academy. The condition of the course is much improved and new things been added to improve the 

course. There is also a reception now at the 1st hole and an indoor simulator where Paul carries out 

lessons. Paul has also got involved in our community programme and delivers golf lessons at some of 

our primary schools. Membership and casual golfers have increased now that there is someone 

dedicated to doing this, Paul also held a national competition recently for child golfers.  

Foot golf usage: April 2018 – March 2019: 720 pay on gate rounds.  

Dartford have continued to run a loyalty scheme where golfers pay for 5 rounds and get their 6th 

free. The golf and foot golf course is advertised on twitter, Facebook, website, periodically in the 

programme and has been advertised in local magazine Dartford Living. An advertising board is pitch 

side within the stadium, and there is also a road sign on Princes Road by the main gates promoting 

the golf course. Feedback from members is that the general state of the golf course is excellent 

compared to previous years.  

Community Pitch and Mini Pitches were used by over 30 local clubs in the last year. They all have 

regular weekly bookings. We also booked in over 170 casual bookings from people in the local 

community. 

Dartford FC have regular bookings online for all its facilities, it allows people to book golf, foot golf, 

mini pitches and community pitch online. Payment can be taken there and then through PayPal 

which is easier for the customer. 

Millwall Lionesses ground shared with us for their first season. The team play on Sundays in the 

Women’s Super League Division 2. Teams in that league included Manchester United, Aston Villa, 

and Tottenham. This provided great coverage nationwide for Princes Park and attracted interest. 

They played 12 home games with an average crowd of 400, so 4800 in total.  

The club run 3 academy teams, one team is linked with Leigh academy alongside the 35 youth teams 

in the pre academy and junior teams. 

THE LEIGH ACADEMY x1 team 

Dartford Football Club is linked with neighbouring school, The Leigh Academy, to give students the 

opportunity to continue working towards their A-Levels whilst pursuing their passion in Football. 

Phil Murray (Head of DFC Youth Development) and Sean Scolding (DFC Community Lead) have been 

working alongside Simon Beamish (Leigh Academies Trust CEO), Sue Crocker (Leigh Academies Trust 

Business Director) and Sharon Waterman (Leigh Academy Principal) in order for the scheme to come 



together. With The Leigh Academy and Dartford FC being located next door to each other it was an 

opportunity that no one involved could miss out on and a chance to create an ongoing partnership. 

Dartford FC already has an Academy in place which runs in partnership with SCL Education Group 

and offers students the chance to gain BTECs along with qualifications and experience in football. 

Due to many young adults aspiring to go to university after their school education is over, the 

necessity of A Levels is something that students would currently miss out on at Dartford. The new 

partnership with The Leigh Academy now enables those who have a passion for football to continue 

their studies towards the qualifications they need whilst receiving regular training and coaching from 

highly qualified FA coaches affiliated to the football club, plus the opportunity to represent the club 

at levels between Youth Conference Alliance League and the new SCL League with the possibility of 

progressing into the First Team or higher. 

With A Levels such as Biology, Media Studies and P.E. to choose from there is a suitable variety of 

options available for any candidate who is interested in the scheme. In order for students to gain 

their place on the course they must obtain 5 GCSEs grade A-C including Maths and English. Once 

their academic application is successful they will be offered a trial at Dartford Football Club. 

We currently have x16 Year 1 students and x8 Year 2 students. Next season we obviously hope that 

all x16 year 1 students will continue into year 2 and we take a new intake of year 1 students, 

doubling our numbers from Leigh Academy.  

SCL x2 teams (50 students) 

COURSE 

A 2-year, full-time education and football development programme for 16-18 year olds.  

Year 1 - BTEC Level 3 Subsidiary Diploma in Sport. 

Year 2 - BTEC Level 3 Diploma in Sport. 

Players will study a variety of nationally-recognised qualifications within sport, coaching and fitness 

managed by SCL.  

Where required students will study Maths and English GCSE or Functional Skills. 

SCL Education Group is one of the UK’s leading independent providers of education through sport:  

 Government approved post-16 private education provider 

 Experts in the field of sport and education delivery with over 15 years' experience 

 Nationally recognised for high quality advice and guidance  

 Programmes delivered in real sports environments  

 Proven Progression routes 

 UCAS POINTS – up to 280 

LEAGUE 

Conference Youth Alliance and SCL league 



COST 

FREE for 16-18 year olds  

ENTRY REQUIREMENTS 

3 GCSES A-C preferably one Maths or English 

FOOTBALL TRAINING 

Dartford FC 

EDUCATION PROVIDER 

SCL Education Group 

Play in the Football Conference Youth Alliance and SCL league 

Daily training from highly qualified FA coaches 

Guidance on individual football fitness 

Nutritional advice 

Regular appraisal to monitor development both on and off the pitch 

The Dartford FC Academy is the pinnacle of the football club's development programme and the 

final stage of preparation prior to Reserve and First Team football. 

With our extensive youth development system, we have developed an outstanding reputation for 

nurturing talented players through this and into professional and non-league football.  

The Academy will play a fundamental role in Dartford FC’s youth department which will strive to 

create a development culture with the primary function of developing players to compete in the 

First Team squad. 

Here at Dartford FC, we are passionate about developing young footballers through the delivery of 

quality coaching, a unique and unrivalled education programme with the use of modern, state-of-

the-art-facilities. 

Players such as Charlie Sheringham (AFC Bournemouth), Cody McDonald (Coventry City FC) and Dave 

Martin (Derby County FC) have all developed their football with the First Team at Dartford Football 

Club before being signed by their respective professional clubs showing the calibre of player that the 

football club is producing. 

We currently have Deren Ibrahim, Ronnie Vint, Richard Seixas, Michael Habte, Tony Coxall, Alfie 

Pavey in the first team squad, all have come through the academy or pre-academy. 

PRE-ACADEMY (7-16) 

The pre-academy at Dartford FC forms part of our player pathway to first team football at the club. 

We aim to create a learning environment where talented young players, many of whom have been 



at professional clubs, can continue to progress. Whilst winning is important, our emphasis focuses 

on the way we play. Therefore, developing players who have tactical as well as technical skill is 

delivered throughout the years through a well-balanced learning syllabus. 

Our squads start at u7 (school year 2) and go through to u16s (school year 11), they then trial for our 

full academy if they have achieved the standards required. At an appropriate point, players are 

signed exclusively to the pre-academy squads, until then they can play for their local club teams as 

well. The squads play in the Elite Development Programme (EDP) against professional and semi-

professional advanced player centres. They also play against professional club academy squads. 

The U13s – U16s are members of the Junior Premier League with such teams as Portsmouth, 

Bournemouth, Woking, Isle of Wight, Basingstoke, and Charlton. Foundation squad players are 

expected to be coached for 1.5 hours per week and the Development phase players for 3 hours per 

week. They are coached by minimum FA Level 2, YCA Module 2 coaches, or coaches who are working 

towards that minimum standard. 

The pre-academy is divided into two phases for players to learn and develop in the way that our 

clubs wants them to. We feel that this meets the requirements of the FA strategy, ‘The Future Game’ 

and mirrors the approach taken in in the professional academy environments through the Elite 

Player Performance Plan. 

FOUNDATION PHASE 

This phase focuses on the development of our u8s – u11. At these ages we focus on Agility, Balance 

& Coordination, the ABCs. Fun and technique are paramount. Whilst it is serious stuff, we like the 

players to learn and develop in a more ‘discovered learning’ environment, so developing an inquiring 

mind and approach is key. A mild sense of self-discipline will be instilled as well.  

DEVELOPMENT PHASE 

This phase focuses on the development of our u12s – u16s. Whilst technical ability is still key in 

terms of the player development process, at these ages players start to learn about the bigger game. 

Roles, responsibilities and tactical application on the field come above winning. A winning mentality 

is strongly encouraged, but not at the cost of losing sight of playing our kind of football. Footballers 

for all scenarios during in a game, is what we need. To be able to read a game and know what is 

required as: an individual; part of a function; and, as a squad as a whole, whilst being strongly 

disciplined….will see a player through to our Academy! We are looking next season at starting to run 

apprenticeships, where students play football with us and then go to college and do so many hours a 

week also learning a trade. 

ELITE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMME 

We have joined a programme involving professional and semi-professional club advanced and 

development centres. Primarily, this involves playing clubs in tri-tournaments during school holidays. 

The clubs involved are: Arsenal, Brighton, MK Dons, Wycombe Wanderers, Walsall, Northampton, 

Histon, Oxford, Brentford and Luton. 



In addition to the Elite Development Programme, we play against: Millwall, Gillingham, QPR, Fulham, 

West Ham, West Brom, Woking, Basingstoke, Leyton Orient and Bournemouth. In the main, these 

fixtures involve our Development Phase (u12s – u16s) squads. 

The club is keen to support local football in the Kent County as well. Our Development Phase squads 

continue to support the local county cup competitions. In addition, we are working with other clubs, 

the FA and local /national youth leagues, in order to create a strategic approach to delivering a 

programme just outside of the professional game. 

GIRLS SQUADS 

 Dartford FC already has a thriving girl’s structure. We now have 5 teams from U14s- U16s and a 

Ladies 1st team, who train at the club once a week coached by qualified Pre Academy staff. We also 

run a girls development centre (school years 3 – 6) with the aim of the sessions to develop existing 

talent and encourage girls in the community to get involved in the club. We hope that with a few 

years hard work we can see a vast improvement in the numbers of girls’ squads on offer. Their 

competitive games are played in the Kent Girls and Ladies football league. 

The ladies 1st team have completed their second season. They are in a very competitive league with 

established teams, but managed to finish 3rd which was a great effort. They also won a cup 

competition and the reserves were runners up in their competition. They have also spent the season 

promoting themselves at the men’s 1st team games to try and encourage people to watch them on 

Sundays 

Dartford Junior Section 

Dartford Football Club runs a thriving and successful Junior Section with teams ranging from U 7 

through to U21’s x20 teams in total. All those involved are volunteers, including managers and 

coaches. 

The aim of the Junior Section is to provide adequate facilities for training and matches, arrange 

matches and social events for the members and the surrounding community, provide a competitive, 

friendly standard of football for boys and girls aged 7-21 at the cheapest possible price and to 

promote the game of ‘association football’. 

The club holds the prestigious FA Charter Standard status and has been awarded one of the highest 

levels possible that of a Development Club. 

All our Junior Team Managers and Coaches are CRB checked,  qualified to a minimum of FA Level 1 

with some going on to achieve  FA Level 2. Each team has at least 1 Coach and/or Manager that has 

attended the FA Safeguarding Children & 1st Aid Workshops.  The Child Welfare Officer and 

Committee members regularly carry out checks to ensure that managers and coaches adhere to the 

rules of the club.  These include ensuring the safety of the children whilst in their care and carry out 

spot checks at matches to ensure managers have a full first aid kit. 

 

 



Mini Soccer School 

Our mini soccer school operates on a pay and play basis meeting every Saturday during the football 

season – September to May.  Our sessions consist of fun based learning of all aspects of football 

including: 

 Passing 

 Dribbling (close ball skills) 

 Shooting 

 1v1 skills 

 Team work 

Our aim is to nurture the interest and love of football in boys and girls aged 4-6 (reception- Yr1 only) 

with the option of joining a Dartford Junior Section team when they reach the appropriate age 

group.  At intervals during the season, there may be opportunities for players to get involved with 

tournaments and competitions giving them practical experience of playing in a team. 

The coaches who run our Mini Soccer School come from our own Junior Section and are CRB 

checked, hold FA Safeguarding Children qualifications, First Aid badges and are trained to FA Level 1 

standard. 

Our Mini Soccer School is run on the 3G mini all weather pitches which are a great surface for 

children to learn and develop their footballing skills.   

Community 

The community section improved significantly over the past 12 months, we employed 2 full time 

staff supported by 6 casual staff. The aim was to really increase community activity in the Borough 

and financially provide revenue for the club that we had not really explored before.  

The Community Section have been successful in securing a number of grants to deliver their 

programmes, totalling £32,410, from a number of sources such as Kent FA (disabled and walking 

football), Winners Chapel (to deliver weekly football coaching on Tree Estate, Fleet Estate, Temple 

Hill), Dartford Borough Council (over 50’s club), National Lottery Grant and Football Conference 

Trust (girls and children’s football).                           

Over the past 12 months, they have started a walking football team, a disabled team and an over 

50’s club, these all provide valuable exercise and social inclusion for the older generation and 

disabled children.  School holiday courses have doubled in participation with an average of 50 

children per day. Birthday parties on site have increased and we also run all football parties at 

Fairfield Leisure as well. In addition we also do a football class for under 5’s on a Saturday morning at 

Fairfield.  Primary school attendance at matches has increased due to free tickets given out and we 

have hosted three school tournaments on the main pitch at the end of the season. We also had 

three first team fixtures that were community days and special stalls and games on site for children 

before the game. This brought in an extra 300 people to these game.  

 

 



Catering & Functions 

The catering section is operated by the same company, in the past year they have had 327 functions. 

They host regular networking mornings for local businesses as well as big corporate functions. 

Birthday parties, funerals and wedding receptions are also very popular. 

Baby Ballet occurs every Monday and Saturday with over 100 children per session along with their 

parents. 

Dartford Living magazine hold regular networking events and the Mayor and council uses the venue 

for functions. We recently had council consultations for Lowfield Street and new developments. 

Salsa classes are every Wednesday with 150 people attending regularly. 

In the past year they have also held functions for Demelza House, St Michaels Church, Wilmington 

Primary School, Alzheimer UK, The Princes Trust, Teacher conferences for DASCO, Darenth Valley 

Hospital.  

Champions Bar is open daily from 10am – 6pm for golfers, foot golf, parents for football and general 

public. 

The Road runners still use our facilities on Tuesdays and Sundays. We are hosting their 5 mile run in 

August where runners from all over the area will start and finish at Princes Park and will be running 

around the Dartford area. 

We have also become a training centre for G4S who regularly use our facilities to train new 

paramedics.  

Also we have started being a centre for giving blood, mainly targeted at men. 

New 

Charlton U23 will be playing here next season on a Monday afternoon x 12 games in season. 

Improvements were made to the overflow car park to fill in pot holes and resurface areas, this will 

be done again this summer, and is part of the G4S contract to maintain.  

New electric height barrier, and gates have been installed to prevent travellers and control traffic 

near the stadium. 

Air conditioning has been installed in the function rooms. This should stop all the complaints about 

the heat and provide a much more comfortable temperature at functions.  

A new extension / infill has been installed downstairs under the park suite balcony and next to 

champions bar. This is to create a separate meeting room during the day and a bigger room on 

match days.   

 





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
9 July 2019 

                                               

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE ANNUAL REPORT 2018-19 
 

 
1. Summary 

 
To consider the work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee during the 2018-19   
municipal year. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That, subject to any amendments proposed by Members in Committee on 9 July 
2019, the draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018–19 (attached as 
Appendix A to this report) be agreed, and submitted to the next meeting of the 
General Assembly of the Council.  

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 
3.1. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol (considered separately) states that the 

Committee will receive an annual report on its work undertaken in the 
preceding municipal year. 

3.2. A draft Annual Report detailing the work undertaken by the Scrutiny 
Committee during the 2018-19 municipal year is attached at Appendix A for 
Members’ consideration, prior to submission to the GAC.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
Not applicable. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments 
 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category: Not applicable 
 
 
7. Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-19  

 
 
 
 
 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
9 July 2019 

                                               
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2017-18, Annual Council 
Agenda and Minutes May 2019, 
Scrutiny Committee Minutes 
(July-Nov. 2018), Scrutiny 
Protocol and ToRs. 

July 2018 David Hook 
Committee Coordinator 

Member Services  
(01322 343276) 

Democratic  
Services/ 
Monitoring 

Officer 

N/A 

 



APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
 
 
 
  Draft Annual Report 2018-19 
 

 



APPENDIX A 
 

Introduction and Background 
 
The Council appointed the Scrutiny Committee in response to the Local 
Government Act 2000 in order to introduce more democracy into the decision 
making process, and to ensure that those who made decisions were held 
accountable.  
 
The Committee performs the scrutiny function on behalf of the Council in 
accordance with the guidelines contained in its Protocol and Terms of 
Reference (ToRs) documents confirmed at Annual Council in May each year.  
 
The Committee’s remit is to contribute to improving Council services by 
holding decision makers to account to the ultimate benefit of the residents of 
the Borough. To achieve this aim the Committee may: 
 

 Review and question Cabinet Members and Officers about decisions 
and performance; 
 

 Scrutinise the performance of the Council in relation to its policy, 
objectives, performance targets and /or particular service areas; 
 

 Make recommendations to the Cabinet and the General Assembly of 
the Council arising from the outcome of the scrutiny process.  

 
Work carried out by the Scrutiny Committee complements the work 
undertaken by the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) Committee and 
the Policy Overview Committee, whose remits are set out in their respective 
Protocols. In compiling its work programme for the ensuing municipal year, 
the Scrutiny Committee aims to avoid duplicating any work being undertaken 
by those sister Committees.  
 
The Committee’s Protocol requires it to report to the Council annually on the 
work it has undertaken in the preceding municipal year. This Annual Report 
provides a summary of the Committee’s work undertaken during the 2018-19 
municipal cycle. The comprehensive record of the Committee’s work in the 
period under review is contained in the Minutes of its meetings, as published 
in full on the Council’s website. 
 
 

 
WORK PROGRAMME REVIEW 2018-19 

 
 

 
The Committee is responsible for compiling its own Work Programme for the 
ensuing municipal year, and agreeing an initial Work Plan with proposed 
timings for each topic, to be reviewed/confirmed at each subsequent meeting 
in the ensuing municipal cycle.   
 
On 10 July 2018 at the initial meeting of the Committee in the new 2018-19 
municipal year, agreed an initial rolling Work Plan. The Plan was reviewed 
and updated by Members at its subsequent meetings in the 2018-19 cycle in 
September and November 2018. The meeting scheduled for February 2019 



APPENDIX A 
 

was cancelled. In addition to agreed Work Plan items, Members also 
considered topics on an ad-hoc basis through-out the year, drawn-down 
under the terms of the Committee’s Protocol, with the approval of the 
Managing Director, as Responsible Council Officer.  
 
The Committee also considered as a stock item at each meeting, the current  
Regulation 9 Notice (formerly the Forward Plan), which set out  the key 
decisions to be considered by Cabinet in the forthcoming 4 month period; with 
a view to drawing-down topics for future consideration by the Committee. 
 
Details of the programme of work undertaken by the Committee during the 
2018-19 municipal cycle are summarised below. Comprehensive details of 
Member’s discussions are contained in the Committee’s Minutes, published 
on the Council’s public website. 
 
 

 
WORK PLAN Items completed in the 2018-19 MUNICIPAL YEAR 

 

 
 
10 July 2018 
 
Item 1: Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2017-18 
 
Members approved the Committee’s Annual Report for 2017-18 for 
presentation to the General Assembly of the Council and thanked the 
Committee Co-ordinator for his advice and support of Members in the period 
under review.  
 
Item 2: Committee’s Work Programme for 2018-19 
 
Members approved an initial Work Plan for the ensuing 2018-19 municipal 
year to be reviewed at subsequent meetings of the Committee in the cycle. 
  
 
18 September 2018 
 
No Work Plan items had been scheduled for consideration by Members at this 
meeting [see draw-down items below]. 
 
20 November 2018 
 
Item 1: The Orchard Theatre Annual Report & Accounts for the Year 
ended 31 March 2018 
 
Members considered a report from the Council’s Leisure & Communities 
Officer which attached as Appendices A, B and C respectively: 
 

(i) The Council’s Monitoring Schedule for the  provision of Services by HQ 
Theatre & Hospitality (HQT&H) for The Orchard Theatre Dartford Ltd 
(Appendix A to the report); 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

(ii) The Orchard Theatre Director’s Annual Report for the period 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 2018 (Appendix B to the report); 
 

(iii) Orchard Theatre Dartford Ltd Profit Share Statement at 31 March 2018 
(Appendix C to the report). 

 
Members expressed their appreciation of the efforts of the Orchard Theatre 
Director and his team in the period under review, and resolved to note the 
contents of the 2017/18 Annual Report for the Orchard Theatre Dartford as 
set out in Appendix B to the covering report, and the Profit Share Statement 
for the Theatre at 31 March 2018, as set out in Appendix C to the report.  
 
Item 2: Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park – Update 
 
Members considered a report from the Council’s Leisure & Communities 
Officer which enclosed a Community Use Information (CUI) sheet from 
Dartford Cricket Club dated October 2018. The CUI sheet updated the 
Committee on the activities being undertaken by the Club in Hesketh Park 
and in support of the wider Dartford community, which Members resolved to 
note. 
 
 
19 February 2019  
 
This scheduled meeting was subsequently cancelled, due to a lack of 
substantive business.  
 
 

 

 ITEMS DRAWN-DOWN 
 

 
 
10 July 2018 
 
FUNDING of DARTFORD CHURCHES WINTER SHELTER 
 
The topic had been drawn-down by the Vice-Chairman on behalf of the 
Conservative Group represented on the Committee, who assumed the 
Chairmanship of the meeting for consideration of the item. 
 
Members had been provided with copies of a tabled document entitled 
‘Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project – 2018’’ prior to being addressed by 
David Mitchell, Project Administrator for the Shelter, and John Atkins Chair of 
the Shelter’s Steering Group. The Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and the Council’s Housing Solutions & Private Sector 
Manager, were also in attendance to respond to Members’ questions. 
 
Members were advised by the Acting Chairman that the purpose of the draw-
down was to establish clarity over the Council’s decision to fund the Winter 
Shelter Project, not to scrutinise the Shelter’s operation by Dartford Churches.  
 



APPENDIX A 
 

Michael Smith and John Atkins from the Winter Shelter highlighted the 
following principal points for Members, drawing on the contents of the tabled 
document: 
 

 The Winter Shelter Project was in the 5th year of its operation and  ran 
during the peak cold Winter months from 1 January to 31 March; 

 The Project offered over-night accommodation Sunday to Saturday 
between the hours of 7 pm to 8 am and provided a hot evening meal 
and a cooked breakfast the following morning. A maximum of 12 
homeless people were accommodated each night at a different church 
venue; 

 All churches in Dartford supported the Winter Project, which had grown 
year on year, with 180 regular volunteers currently operating at 6 
separate church venues in Dartford;  

 The Project had been wholly reliant on donations from churches and 
individuals in its first 4 years of operation, prior to the Council’s funding 
donation in November 2017; 

 The Council’s grant of £10k had enabled the Winter Project to make a 
significant step-change in its operation in 2018 from a bed & breakfast 
service, to one which helped homeless people to ‘move on’ to a better 
life off the streets; 

 The Council’s donation had been used to fund the general running 
costs of the Project in 2018 [excluding salaries] which had enabled the 
Shelter’s Steering Group to use its existing £2k bank balance (plus 
continuing private donations), to fund the salaries of 2 Project Workers 
during the Shelter’s peak operating months from January to March, and 
a part-time Project Worker throughout the year, to help clients build on 
their initial Winter Shelter experience, and ‘move-on’ during the Spring 
and Summer months; 

 The Winter Project had been able to accommodate all its clients during 
January to March 2018 with only 1 or 2 exceptions. 

 
The Leader of the Council clarified for Members the rationale behind the 
Council’s decision to make a funding donation to the Winter Shelter and how 
that donation had helped to meet the Council’s Corporate Objectives. In 
particular, the Council’s general responsibility for the well-being of Dartford 
residents and more specifically, on compassionate grounds, for the homeless 
sleeping rough on the streets in the Borough in the most extreme winter 
weather. 
 
He advised Members that the ‘risk’ for the Council in making such a grant 
funding to the Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project had been that it 
became the helper of 1st resort in the future: this could conflict with the 
Council’s statutory responsibilities under the new Homelessness Reduction 
Act [to provide accommodation for those that qualified]. Part of the rationale in 
granting funding to the Winter Shelter Project was that it provided 
accommodation in Dartford, whereas under the Act, the Council was not 
always able to accommodate the homeless within the Borough, only nearby in 
Kent.  
 
The Leader had received an application for a grant-in-aid on 25 August 2017 
which had been considered in consultation with the Managing Director, as the 



APPENDIX A 
 

Responsible Council Officer, and a grant of £10k from the Identified Initiatives 
Reserve (2017-18) had been subsequently been made in November 2017, on 
the sole condition that the monies were not used for salary purposes [in line 
with the Council’s grants-in-aid policy].  
 
Council Officers ensured that the Winter Shelter’s services dove-tailed with 
those commissioned by the Council from Porchlight, and the umbrella of 
services provided by the Council and its partner agencies in the new Housing 
Services Hub; to meet the Council’s statutory obligations for the homeless 
under the provisions of the new Homelessness Reduction Act.  
 
Members were advised by the Housing Solutions & Private Sector Housing 
Manager that:  
 

 Shelter clients were people whom the Council could not help directly 
under any of the ‘5 tests’ for homelessness under the provisions of the 
Housing (Homeless Persons) Act 1977 [prior to April 2018] and 
subsequently under the new Homelessness Prevention Act, which 
defined the Council’s statutory responsibilities with regard to homeless 
persons and families; 

 The Council’s Severe Weather Protocol formed part of the support 
element of the Act, and was applied to homeless persons sleeping on 
the streets when temperatures dropped below zero for three 
consecutive nights; 

 The Council provided a Single Person Homeless Service to those that 
qualified; 

 Hostels were an alternative for some Shelter clients but could be 
problematical in terms of a client’s previous history and behaviour in a 
hostel; 

 Shelter clients may have been to the Council prior to the Shelter, but 
either failed to qualify for the Council’s help under the Act, or had 
previously lost accommodation provided by the Council or its partner 
Agencies, due to dependency issues; 

 The Council always examined all options available when considering 
applications from potentially homeless applicants under the provisions 
of the Act; 

 The issue of East European workers sleeping rough in the Borough 
was being addressed by the Vulnerability Forum run by the Council’s 
Community Safety Unit (CSU) and the Safety Forum; 

 Significant and increasingly successful work had been undertaken on a 
multi-agency basis to address drug and alcohol dependency and 
mental health issues amongst the homeless (via the Council’s new 
Housing Services Hub) to meet the Council’s statutory obligations 
under the Homelessness Prevention Act where appropriate. 

 
The Leader advised Members, in terms of lessons learnt and the shape and 
adequacy of the Council’s provision for the Homeless and Rough Sleepers in 
the Borough; that Porchlight’s Single Homeless Service (commissioned by the 
Council) had corresponded with the Shelter’s own survey in terms of 
numbers, demographics and profile, and whether those individuals did or did 
not have recourse to help from the Council under the statutory provisions of 



APPENDIX A 
 

the Act. He judged that both the Porchlight Survey and the Council’s donation 
to the Winter Shelter as money well spent. 
 
The Chairman held a different view. He suggested that the most important 
lessons to be learnt from the Porchlight and Shelter surveys was that most 
rough sleepers in the Borough were young, had drug or alcohol 
dependencies, and often suffered from mental health issues. He suggested 
that these were more important lessons to be learned by the Council and its 
Service partners. 
 
The Housing Solutions & Private Sector Housing Manager assured the 
Chairman that the Council were aware of issues and demographics, and the 
contribution of the Winter Shelter in helping such clients whom the Council 
could not, under the provisions of the Act.   
 
She advised that parental eviction and mental health issues were the primary 
causes of homelessness amongst the young. The Council’s multi-agency 
operation in the new Housing Services Hub sought to address these and 
other issues affecting the Homeless in a wrap-around service provision, to 
meet the statutory requirements of the Act. She represented the Council in the 
continuing national discussion of these issues, and at the local authority level 
with KCC, over the commissioning of further resources in Dartford.  
 
The Acting Chairman thanked his guests from the Shelter together with the 
Leader of the Council, Cabinet Portfolio Holder and the Council’s HS&PS 
Manager for attending the Committee’s proceedings, and their comprehensive 
response to Members questions concerning the Council’s decision to make a 
funding donation to the Dartford Churches Winter Shelter Project operation in 
2018.  
 
 
18 September 2018  
 
COUNCIL LITTER ENFORCEMENT SCHEME  
 
The topic had been drawn-down by the Chairman who had expressed his 
concern regarding the effectiveness of the existing Scheme, how it fitted into 
the Council’s wider strategy to tackle litter in the Borough, and how it met 
relevant Corporate Objective(s).  
 
The Leader of the Council responded on behalf of Cabinet. He advised 
Members that the current Litter Enforcement Scheme formed part of the 
Council’s wider remit; considered by Cabinet some years previously; but 
initially deferred in the hope that the Dartford public could be educated to 
improve its litter habits and sense of public responsibility over the issue.  
 
By 2013 it had become increasingly apparent that trying to better educate the 
public over its litter responsibilities was not working. Littering in the Borough, 
in particular around the town centre and the railway station had increased, 
and Cabinet took the decision to impose a litter scheme. After taking time to 
learn from other authorities operating litter enforcement schemes, Kingdom 
Security had been chosen to operate the Scheme from the small pool of 
contractors operating in the sector. The Council had ensured that a 



APPENDIX A 
 

prescriptive contract was drawn-up with Kingdom [given the BBC programme 
on Kingdom’s litter enforcement schemes elsewhere in the UK] and the 
Leader expressed his satisfaction that the Council’s overall aims and policy 
objectives had been met under the contract arrangements secured. Cigarette 
butt littering, particularly in the Town Centre and around Dartford railway 
station, continued to be the primary offence. But all aspects of littering were 
tackled by the Council, under its wider remit to reduce offending in the 
Borough.  
 
The Chairman noted that over the 2 year period 2016-18 under the Scheme, 
94% of all Fixed Penalty Notices (FPNs) issued by Kingdom’s Litter 
Enforcement Officers (LEOs) had been for cigarette butt littering. He accepted 
that cigarette butt littering was the number 1 issue, but suggested that 
Dartford had several other litter issues which also needed to be addressed. 
He questioned whether the profile of FPNs issued in 2016-18 matched 
Dartford’s littering profile on a category basis in that 2 year period. 
 
The Leader agreed that the FPN profile clearly did not, and conceded that dog 
fouling was a greater problem than indicated by the 0.3% of total FPNs 
issued. That said; Kingdom’s LEOs could only issue FPNs for littering 
offences they observed, and dog fouling was rarely observed at the time of 
offence. Cigarette butt littering in the Town Centre and Dartford railway station 
had been, and continued to be, the primary offence and consequently 
attracted the vast majority of FPNs issued. It was hoped that once the 
Dartford public had been sufficiently educated (through FPN fines), Kingdom 
would be able to expand its current Dartford operation beyond the Town 
Centre and Dartford railway station to concentrate on other areas of the Town. 
Until that time, LEOs would continue to issue FPNs where offences were seen 
to be committed.  
 
Members were informed by the Kingdom Manager that the company’s LEOs 
worked in daylight hours up to 6 p.m. Monday to Saturday, in partnership with 
the Council’s enforcement officers and Kent police. He confirmed the Leader’s 
advice that offenders had to be clearly seen to be committing an offence 
before an FPN could be issued. This made the issue of FPNs for dog fouling 
particularly difficult. It was hoped to extend the daylight hours that LEOs 
patrolled next summer to address the specific issue of dog fouling, allied to 
increased co-ordination with Kent Police via the Council’s CSU operation.  
 
He advised that his LEO teams were deployed on specific routes on a weekly 
basis, in response to Intel reports received from a variety of sources 
(residents, street cleaners, Kent police and Council enforcement officers); to 
help target litter ‘hotspots’ for enforcement measures by LEOs and the 
Council’s EOs. Dartford train station and the Town Centre were regularly 
identified as litter ‘hotspots’ and feedback from the LEO teams indicated that 
interaction with the public was good, and that the message not to drop 
cigarette butts was being received. He added that under the national ‘Keep 
Britain Tidy’ campaign, cigarette butt littering was a major target used to better 
educate the public.    
 
The Chairman suggested that despite an apparently low recidivism rate 
amongst fined offenders, the fact that incidences of cigarette butt littering 
were still high, indicated that the message was not getting through to the 



APPENDIX A 
 

wider public and that by extension, the current Scheme was not effective in 
changing public behaviour. 
 
In response to the Chairman’s expression of concern, the Leader advised 
Members that Kingdom’s data for the Scheme for 2016/17 and 2017/18 
clearly showed that the recidivism rate amongst smokers dropping cigarette 
butts was low when fined. Educating the public took time and the Scheme 
clearly needed more time to change public behaviour regarding this specific 
littering offence. The Council would continue to fine offenders in the belief that 
the message would eventually get through to the public at large. The Scheme 
required zero financing, and actually provided a small revenue stream for the 
authority which had been used by the Council to supplement resources 
including; the provision of additional bins, tackling fly-tipping issues and the 
purchase of new CCTV cameras.  
 
Members expressed further concern over LEO patrol patterns, food packaging 
and drinks can littering at the week-end around West Hill by patrons of 
Dartford’s night-time economy. Early morning dog walkers who allowed their 
pets to foul this area were also a source of particular concern. 
 
The Strategic Director (ES), the Council’s Waste & Parks Manager, and the 
Kingdom Manger confirmed the following points for Members in response to 
their concerns: 
 

 Wards were patrolled on the basis of Intel received and not set in 
stone; 

 If residents raised concerns over specific littering behaviour the 
Council’s EOs and Kingdom’s LEOs would respond appropriately; 

 LEOs undertook dog-fouling patrols between 5 to 8 a.m. in the summer 
months when such offences could be observed; 

 Kingdom participated in Police led multi-agency operations on a 
monthly basis to tackle littering issues arising out of Dartford’s night-
time economy; 

 Kingdom held weekly team meetings with Dartford partners; under the 
over-all direction of the Council’s Enforcement Manager; to assess the 
Intel received from a wide variety of sources including residents and 
shopkeepers, to set future patrol patterns to target litter ‘hotspots’. 

 
Members were advised that all age groups were represented in the FPN 
demographic for Dartford and the Council had a 75% payment rate for FPNs 
issued across that demographic spectrum, with the level of complaints against 
FPN issue low. This compared favourably with other Boroughs. It was 
confirmed that a 60% FPN payment rate was required to self-finance the 
Scheme.    
 
The Chairman returned to his theme of the effectiveness/success of the 
existing Scheme and how it was being measured. He remained unconvinced 
that a low level of complaints against FPN issue and a low level of recidivism 
by smokers [who had dropped cigarette butts and been fined] were in fact 
indicators that the Scheme was neither effective nor successful. He noted that 
no FPNs had been issued for dog-fouling in the period to September 2018, 



APPENDIX A 
 

and concluded that that offence was clearly not being effectively addressed by 
the current Scheme. Some other Members echoed the Chairman’s concerns. 
 
The Leader maintained his view that a 0% rate of recidivism amongst 
cigarette butt offenders (over 6,900 people had not committed a second 
offence after receiving an FPN), allied to the low level of complaints against 
FPNs issued; were real indicators of the current Scheme’s success and 
justified the decision by Cabinet to institute a litter scheme. 
 
 The Chairman concluded discussion by suggesting that it would be easier to 
demonstrate that the current Scheme was effective, if there was measurable 
evidence of an actual decline in littering. He had no confidence that this was 
in fact the case.  
 
At the suggestion of the Strategic Director (External Services), the Council’s 
Waste & Parks Manager advised Members of the background to littering in 
the Borough, the aims of the current Scheme, and the context of success in 
the long-term. 
 

 The Council’s street cleaning operation cleared 125 tonnes of waste 
per month; 

 Litter only accounted for 5 tonnes of that monthly total; 

 There was no accurate breakdown for that litter component; 

 It was therefore impossible to profile litter or those that littered ; 

 DBC’s waste and litter clearing operation was comparable with other 
Boroughs in the area; 

 Actual litter complaints were mainly about cans, bottles and cigarette 
packets; 

 Complaints were down to about 30 per month for litter and 20 per 
month  for dog fouling;  

 Council street cleaning teams believed the Town Centre was cleaner - 
but this was difficult to quantify; 

 The current Scheme was a long-term project whose success needed to 
be measured in years (if not decades) in terms of educating the public 
and altering their behaviour and littering profile. 

 
The Committee thanked Cabinet Members and Officers for attending, and 
responding to the issues and concerns raised in the debate. 
 
20 November 2018 
 
1: UTILISATION and RENEWAL of PUBLIC LITTER BINS 
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn-down the topic on behalf 
of his Group, in response to the weight of correspondence he continued to 
receive from residents in his Ward regarding the existing provision of litter and 
dog waste bins by the Council.  His aim was to examine and discuss the 
Council’s existing litter bin regime, and how the current arrangements might 
move forward and be improved for the future.  
 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

The Waste & Parks Manager highlighted the following principal points for 
Members from his report before the Committee: 
 

 There were currently some 700 litter bins distributed across the 
Borough used for both litter and dog waste [previously separate bins]; 

 The Borough Council  provided the majority of the bins, supplemented 
by Parish/Town Councils locally, plus from private enterprise; 

 The current distribution of litter bins had evolved over time in response 
to varied Member and resident concern and expressions of perceived 
need; 

 The Council received on average between 3 to 5 requests per month 
for increased litter-bin provision with the majority of residents 
requesting dual litter and dog-waste bins, but generally not situated too 
close to their homes; 

 Litter bins were emptied by the Council’s contractors on a daily, 
multiple day, or weekly basis as appropriate, depending on the volume 
of litter and dog waste deposited;   

 Amey LG Ltd emptied the majority of the 700 litter bins in the urban 
environment, Continental Landscapes emptied the litter bins in Central 
and Hesketh Parks, and CPM Ltd were contracted to empty the litter 
bins in Dartford’s 27 school playgrounds; 

 All street litter - plastic, paper and bottles went into the same litter bins 
together with dog waste. Consequently, here was no statistical 
breakdown for the component elements of street litter. 

 
In response to subsequent specific questions from Members the Waste & 
Parks Manager confirmed the following additional points: 
 

 The location of litter bins in the Borough was unmapped; 

 All non-recyclable waste (including dog waste) from litter bins was 
bulked up at Pepperhill Household Waste & Recycling Centre and 
transferred to Maidstone for incineration; 

 The frequency for emptying litter bins was decided by the Waste & 
Parks Manager, based on feedback from contractors. 
 

The Chairman expressed his concern that no formal policy or procedure was 
set out in the report for the provision of new litter and dog bins. He asked 
whether the replacement of litter bins was a reactive or proactive (intelligence 
led) process, and what factors were used to determine the siting of new dual 
use litter/dog waste bins. 
 
The Waste & Parks Manager advised Members that the replacement of dual 
litter/dog waste bins and the provision of new or additional bins, was a 
reactive process based on a number of factors and considerations including: 
 

 Whether there was already a bin at a location; 

 How many shops/schools were located nearby; 

 Was the location of the existing/proposed bin on a route used by 
school/college pupils; 

 If so, were there shops nearby that those pupils used, particularly fast 
food outlets and/or convenience stores; 



APPENDIX A 
 

 Complaints of [repeated] dog littering from residents in a specific 
location. 

 
Increased bin provision was also considered by Officers during the planning 
application process for new fast food outlets, which tended to generate 
increased levels of littering.  Littering in private areas or where a road had yet 
to be ‘adopted’, were not the responsibility of the Council. 
 
Members’ sought evidence of pro-active Council policy going forward. The 
Waste & Parks Manager gave the following advice in response: 
 

 Litter bin cost varied from £25 up to £5,000 for a ‘Big-Belly’ solar-
powered bin with a crushing/compacting capacity; 

 Dartford purchased towards the low-cost end of the litter bin market; 

 Re-cycling efforts were being pushed across the Borough, but research 
showed that multi-compartment bins did not work well with residents, 
were labour intensive for contractors to empty, and consequently costly 
for the Council to install and run; 

 The Council’s existing policy and going forward, was to purchase good 
quality standard litter and re-cycling bins that were economically priced; 

 The Council’s litter bin policy had been evolved by Officers over time 
based on their experience of what worked, which was ‘simple was 
best’. Both for the Council and for residents; 

 The more complex a litter collection process became, the greater 
opportunity for error, leading to resident dissatisfaction and complaints. 
 

The Chairman next addressed the topic of the Council’s review of its current 
litter operation as notified by Cabinet, but as yet, not subject to report.   
 
The Waste & Parks Manager advised Members that the Council’s Review of 
Litter for Dartford as a whole remained ongoing. A mini review of the Town 
Centre had been completed, and a joint review with Wilmington Parish 
Council was progressing, with similar joint reviews with all Parishes proposed 
in the future. He confirmed the following points in response to subsequent 
specific questions from the Chairman and some Members: 
 

 The purpose of the Review was to determine the present location of all 
bins [some pre-dated the 1980s];  

 The number of proposed new litter bins was not yet known; 

 There was scope for bin replacement in the current budget, with 
recourse to greater funding on a needs basis as required; 

 Priorities remained replacing small lidless bins attached to lamp posts 
and bus stops, then the replacement of larger lidless bins on a like for 
like basis, with good quality robust bins from the economical end of the 
market; 

 Not all litter bins would be replaced - many were in a good condition; 

 The Town Centre, Longfield and Swanscombe retail areas benefited 
from metal bins on a perceived needs basis. 

 
Members thanked the Waste & Parks manager for his report and for his open 
and frank responses to Members’ questions, and resolved that the Minutes of 
the meeting be referred to Cabinet for response in due course. 



APPENDIX A 
 

 
 

2: COUNCIL’S MODERN ANTI-SLAVERY and HUMAN TRAFFICKING 
STATEMENT 
 
The Chairman advised Members that he had drawn-down the Council’s 
Statement on ‘Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking’ on behalf of his 
Group in recognition of UK Anti-Slavery Day [18 October].  
 
He proposed that the Committee examine whether the Council’s performance 
in these policy areas fulfilled the terms of its Statement; including the 
Council’s  interactions with suppliers and partners; and whether there was any 
scope for more to be done in that respect.  
 
The Chairman opened the debate by stating that it was hugely positive that 
the Council had published their own Statement regarding ‘Modern Anti-
Slavery and Human Trafficking’ measures, procedures and practices. He 
noted that many Councils had not done so and invited the Cabinet Member 
present and the Strategic Director (External Services) to brief Members on the 
objectives of the Council’s policy, as enshrined in its Statement. 
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) advised the Committee that she 
was not an expert on the subject, but gave the following background to the 
Council’s decision to publish a Statement, and outlined how her 
responsibilities as SD (ES) had led to her involvement with and oversight of, 
the Council’s Statement at a personal working level. 
 
As Chair of the Council’s corporate Safeguarding Steering Group the SD(ES) 
was heavily involved on behalf of the Council with the Community Safety 
Partnership (CSP) on the issues. A principal part of the CSP’s work was to 
agree and publish an Annual Strategic Assessment (SA) document. The SA 
addressed inter-alia Safeguarding, Modern Anti-Slavery and Human 
Trafficking issues in the Borough, how to identify them, and the measures and 
resources required to address the issues, together with CSP partners such as 
Kent Police and KCC. 
 
At the time of publication of the parent legislation [Modern Slavery Act 2015] it 
had not been clear what demands the Act imposed on local authorities. The 
Council had decided to adopt the strictures set out in the Act as ‘good working 
practice’, and to demonstrate its willingness to address the issues the Act 
covered. Since publication of its first Statement in 2017, the Council’s policy 
had been one of promoting awareness and greater understanding of the 
subjects to its Officers. In particular, those serving in the Community Safety 
Unit (CSU), Housing and Environmental Health services; given their work in 
the wider community on a daily basis; had been equipped with the skills to 
recognise and appropriately report concerns of potential modern day slavery 
and human trafficking.  
 
In addition, the Council had engaged outside experts in the field and liaised 
closely with colleagues from partner agencies to build up a greater awareness 
of the issues, and how to respond to them. Examples of that further work 
included: 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

 The Council Briefing Note to Members on the issues, including who to 
contact when encountering them in their Wards and elsewhere; 

 Interactive training of licensed cab drivers in the Borough by Council 
Licencing Officers, in conjunction with colleagues from Kent Fire & 
Rescue and Kent Police: Licensed cab drivers had a key role to play in 
observing and reporting a wide range of possible offences that could 
give rise to concern across the range of safeguarding subjects; 

 Council procurement procedures required existing contractors and 
suppliers to adhere to the Council’s Statement and ensure that their 
activities met the Council’s thresholds in terms of preventing modern 
day slavery and human trafficking.  

 
The Chairman thanked the Strategic Director (ES)) for her detailed and 
comprehensive briefing of the Committee and proposed that Members next 
examined what specific measures the Council was taking to combat modern 
day slavery and human trafficking.  
 
Members were advised that the Council’s three performance indicators (PIs) 
used to measure how effective the Council had been in ensuring slavery and 
human trafficking were not taking place in any part of its business or supply 
chains [Statement para 10.1.1-3] were based upon what could be measured, 
and on what other organisations were doing. The Council had not received 
any reports of slavery or human trafficking in the Borough in the period under 
review to date, in relation to its own activities.   
 
The Council was under a legal obligation to work with partners to meet its 
safeguarding obligations in all its work areas and to report any/all instances of 
abuse it encountered. Safeguarding measures were now implanted into all of 
the Council’s daily processes and procedures, and specific training given to 
Council Officers who worked externally in the community. Relevant Council 
Officers engaged with business managers in the Borough over specific 
issues, and a broader inter-action with business as a whole, was conducted 
through the Council’s public website.  
 
In addition, the Community Safety Manager as the Council’s Safeguarding 
Champion, was the operational lead in terms of safeguarding children, 
modern day slavery and human trafficking, and the Head of Housing Services 
was the operational lead for adult safeguarding.   
 
The Chairman saw an inherent risk [for the Council] in measuring the scale of 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the Borough by the fact that no 
reports of such activity had been recorded in the previous 12 month period. 
He asked when the fact of ‘no reports’ became a concern for the Council, 
rather than an assurance. 
 
The Strategic Director (External Services) reminded Members that the current 
Statement enshrined the Council’s procedures and practices to combat 
modern day slavery and human trafficking in the conduct of its own business, 
its suppliers and partners. The Council Statement did not seek to govern the 
wider Dartford community nor could it.  
 
 



APPENDIX A 
 

In response to a suggestion from the Chairman that the freedom to join a 
trade union be enshrined in the Council’s next Statement; the Strategic 
Director (External Services) advised that the Council could not interfere in the 
internal running of other organisation, bodies or companies, in terms of trade 
union membership for its employees.  
 
However, the Council did ask its own suppliers and partners to sign-up to its 
safe-guarding ethos and thresholds, and she undertook to consider the 
suggestion of trade union representation, for inclusion in the next annual 
review of the Council’s current Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human 
Trafficking measures, due to be undertaken in September 2019. 
 
Members resolved to note the contents of the Council’s current proactive 
Statement on Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking measures, and the 
proposal that Officers consider Members’ views expressed that evening, when 
the Council’s current Statement was reviewed in September 2019. 
 
 





 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

9 JULY 2019 
 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL 

 

1. Summary 

 

1.1 This report presents the Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol, which sets out the 
procedures that the Committee should follow to operate effectively. 

2. RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1  That the Protocol for the Scrutiny Committee (attached at Appendix A to this 

report), be noted. 

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. The General Assembly of the Council, at its Annual Meeting on 22 May 
2019 agreed the general Terms of Reference for all Committees, 
including the Scrutiny Committee. 

3.2. The detailed procedures that the Scrutiny Committee must follow, to 
work effectively, are set out in the Committee’s Protocol (attached as 
Appendix A to this report), for Members’ information.  

 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

The scrutiny process increases local democratic accountability and visibility of 
key local public services and partners. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None  

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None  

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
Not applicable 
 

7. Appendices 
 
Appendix A: Scrutiny Committee Protocol (June 2019) 
 



 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

9 JULY 2019 
 

 

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
 1 July 

2019 
David Hook 
(01322) 343276 

Democratic 
Services / Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services) 

N/A 

 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

1

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE PROTOCOL 

A ‘local government matter’ is defined as a matter which relates to the discharge of any function of the 
authority, affects all or part of the electoral area for which the Member is elected or any person who 
lives or works in that area and is not an ‘excluded matter’

Introduction This Protocol recognises the division of executive and non-executive roles 
and responsibilities, the scrutiny role performed by non-executive 
Councillors and the part played by all Councillors in representing local 
communities.

Terms of Reference To contribute to improving Council services by holding decision makers to 
account which ultimately benefits residents of the Borough of Dartford.

Guidelines (a) Terms of Reference agreed by the General Assembly of the Council 
(the GAC);
(b) Standing Orders and Financial Regulations;
(c) Codes of Conduct;
(d) Secretary of State guidance issued from time to time.

Committee 
accountability

To the Council as the ultimate decision making body from which all of the 
other elements in the decision-making process derive their authority.

Elected Member 
accountability

Individual elected Members have a collective responsibility for the Council's 
functions.  This collective responsibility extends to a duty to ensure that the 
Council complies with the law and does not knowingly act unlawfully.

Compliance 
principles

The Committee will:
 Scrutinise and monitor the performance of the Cabinet, Officers and 

partner authorities in implementing decisions in line with the Council’s 
Strategic and Policy Framework;

 Recognise the legitimate right of the Cabinet to provide political and 
operational leadership to the Council and will not attempt to usurp the 
power vested in the Cabinet by the GAC;

 Recognise that Officers continue to owe a duty to all Members of the 
Council;

 Guarantee the right of Officers to express their advice on matters 
within their areas of responsibility, particularly (but not exclusively) on 
technical professional issues.  Officers must not be pressurised to 
change their advice to suit political aspirations.  Questions to Officers 
must be within Officers' remit and will as far as possible be confined 
to questions of fact and explanation relating to policies and decisions 
within Officers' remit;

 Will not criticise or adversely comment on any individual Officer by 
name;

 Not attempt to thwart the Cabinet by engaging in vexatious or 
unnecessarily repetitive overview and scrutiny activities.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

2

Membership Committee membership cannot include any Cabinet member.

The Scrutiny Process 
To perform the scrutiny functions on behalf of the Council within the guidelines detailed in the 
Committee's Terms of Reference and this Protocol and specifically, the following overarching 
principles:

The scrutiny of any matter:

(a) relating to the provision of and/or delivery of  Council services to the local community;
(b) in which the Council has an interest, subject to the Council being in a position to reasonably 

influence the outcome for the benefit of the local community;
(c) which has an adverse impact on the delivery of Council services.

1.What may be 
scrutinised

1.1 decisions made and/or actions taken in connection with the discharge of 
any of the Council’s and/or Cabinet’s functions;

1.2 performance of the Cabinet, Officers, Committees, Boards and Panels 
whether generally or in relation to service plans and targets, or in relation 
to particular decisions, initiatives or projects;

NB: scrutiny will not focus on day to day management and operational 
decisions, which are the proper concerns of Council managers and Officers.

1.3 performance of the Council in relation to policy and budgetary objectives, 
performance targets and/or particular service areas;

1.4 the planning, provision, operation and performance of public 
bodies/organisations  including local health services, subject to the Council 
being in a position to reasonably influence the outcome for the benefit of 
the local community;

1.5 Councillor Calls for Action (CCfAs);

1.6 local improvement targets. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

3

A.Draw downs Draw downs for the purposes of scrutinising decisions/actions of the 
Council, Cabinet etc. and/or the scrutiny/of the effects/outcomes of a 
decision post implementation

A.1 For each meeting of the Committee:

 through the Shadow Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total 
for the Political Group on the Council forming the administration on the 
Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee, up to two items in total for the 
Political Group on the Council forming the largest party in opposition on 
the Council;

 through the Chairman of the Committee, one item only for any other 
Political Groups on the Council, dealt with on a ‘first come first served 
basis’.

A.2 Subject to section A.6 of this Protocol, each Committee meeting may draw 
down for scrutiny purposes, no more than five items in total.  These five items 
may comprise a combination of items relating respectively, to a Call-in, CCfA, 
the scrutiny of decision(s)/actions of the Cabinet/Officers, local improvement 
targets, local health service body etc.  Whatever combination is applied, the 
Committee is restricted to the scrutiny of five items in total, per Committee 
meeting.

A.3 (a) A draw down(s) must be on written notice to Member Services by no 
later than noon on the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear 
days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from 
midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and the day on 
which the meeting is held).

(b) The need (if any) for participant representatives to appear before the 
Committee will be notified to Member Services by no later than noon on 
the 16th day before a Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen 
weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight 
excluding bank and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is 
held).

A.4 Where the Committee wish to scrutinise an item for the purposes of 
examining the effect and outcomes of a decision/action etc. post 
implementation, drawing down the item may need to be delayed to a future 
date. 

NB: The focus of the scrutiny in such circumstances will be concerned with 
the effects and outcomes of the decision whether or not reference was 
made to effects or outcomes (potential or perceived) in any background 
document before the Committee.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

4

A.5 When more than one Political Group on the Council notifies a draw down of 
the same item, the Political Group which first gave notice in accordance with 
section A.1 of this Protocol, will lead at the meeting, on the discussion of the 
item and the Chairman will exercise his/her discretion about the right of the 
Political Groups to sum up.

A.6

A.7

Although Scrutiny Committee and the Policy Overview Committee have 
different roles and responsibilities, the remit of the Committees may on 
occasions overlap.  Whilst draw downs and work programmes will need to 
have flexibility and their own broader topics and focus, the Scrutiny 
Committee will avoid any duplication in work programme activities and draw 
downs.

The Managing Director, in consultation with the Strategic Director (External 
Services), will make the final decision on the rejection of a draw down, with 
reasons recorded in writing.  In the absence of either the Managing Director 
or Strategic Director (External Services), the Strategic Director (Internal 
Services) will be consulted by the other.

B. Requests for 
information

B.1 Any Committee member may make requests for information, on written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before the 
Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 periods of 
24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public 
holidays and the day on which the meeting is held) and the following will 
apply.  The request for information will:

 detail the item(s) to be drawn down, supported by reasons for the draw 
down(s);

 the nature of the information requested e.g. a full report, background 
information, research, data, statistics, etc.;

 if applicable, identify the need for participants (Members, Officers and/or 
other external participants) to appear before the Committee (refer to the 
general principles on participation detailed in section D of this Protocol);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of the questions and the likely topics 
to be raised on the item(s);

 provide an indication if at all possible, of whether the request for 
information is for the purposes of informing the debate or for the purposes 
of putting questions to participants.

B.2 On receipt of a request for information, Member Services will notify the 
Managing Director and link officer of the partner organisation.  Where the 
request for information relates to a Cabinet decision/action, the Managing 
Director and the Cabinet Chairman will be notified accordingly. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

5

B.3 Where information requested is readily available and routinely collected, it 
will be provided within 14 days of receipt of the request, save that if some or 
all the information cannot reasonable be provided within the 14 day period, 
the information will be provided as soon as reasonably possible and in any 
event, no later than 7 clear days’ (seven weekdays i.e. 7 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held).  

B.4 Information will be depersonalised, unless the identification of an individual 
is necessary or appropriate in order to enable the Committee to properly 
exercise its powers or disclosure is permitted by or under the Data Protection 
Act 2018.  

B.5 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to prejudice legal 
proceedings or current or future operations of the Council, Cabinet etc.

B.6 Information will not include matters reasonably likely to constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable by any person.

B.7 Schedule 12A, Parts 1-3 of the Local Government Act 1972 as regards the 
categories of exempt information, reg.5 of the Local Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees) (England) Regulations 2012, reg.26 of the Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013) and Standing Order 46(2) as regards confidential 
information, will apply to the proceedings of the Committee.

B.8 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the receipt of 
information, particularly where requests for additional information are made 
or where the information requested is voluminous and/or where there are 
costs implications associated with providing the information.  In these 
circumstances, Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman 
accordingly.

B.9 To facilitate the scrutiny process, a partner authority (as defined in Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 
2007 (as amended) is under a duty to pro-actively provide information to the 
Committee on request (reg.4 of the Local Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees) (England) (Regulations 2012).

C. Call-in of Cabinet 
decisions

C.1 This Call-in procedure will be operated in such a way as not to have a 
concomitant negative effect on the efficiency of Cabinet decision-making.

This Call-in procedure will only apply to Cabinet decisions/actions, subject 
to the restrictions/limitations detailed in sections C.8, C.9, C.11, C.13, C15 
and C.16 of this Protocol.

C.2 (a) Call-in will be by five Members of the Committee (involving 
representation of at least two political groups), in writing, to Member Services 
by no later than noon on the day before the Cabinet meeting.  Member 
Services will notify the Cabinet Chairman of the Call-in.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

6

(b) Once a member of the Committee has signed a Call-in, he/she may not 
do so again until a period of six months has expired.

C.3 A special meeting of the Committee may be called in accordance with the 
rules detailed in Standing Order 27 (Special Meetings of the Cabinet, 
Committees and Boards) and will be held before the next meeting of the 
Cabinet (Cabinet meetings are scheduled on a four weekly basis), with a 
view to reporting to the next Cabinet meeting. Where it is not possible for the 
Committee to report to the next Cabinet meeting, the Committee Chairman 
will consult with the Cabinet Chairman and agree a date for referring the Call-
in back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration.

Referring the Call-in back to the Cabinet will not be delayed by more than 4 
weeks from the date of the notice of Call-in.

C.4 Once a Call-in has been effected, the Cabinet may at its discretion, either:

(a) defer consideration of the proposed decision and/or action (the Deferred 
Decision) to its next scheduled meeting or where it is not possible for 
the Committee to report to the next scheduled meeting of the Cabinet, 
defer consideration until receipt of the Committee's report; or

(b) take the decision and/or action which decision/action will stand as 
suspended (the Suspended Decision) until the next scheduled meeting 
of the Cabinet or where the Call-in is referred to the GAC by the 
Committee, until referred back to the Cabinet by the GAC for 
reconsideration.

C.5 Following consideration of the Call-in, the Committee will, on a report (setting 
out the Committee's concerns, recommendations, conclusions, suggestions 
and/or comments), either refer the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision 
back to the Cabinet for consideration/reconsideration, or request a debate 
on the Call-in at the next ordinary meeting of the GAC, or if necessary, at an 
extraordinary meeting of the GAC, but subject to the rules detailed in 
Standing Order 1.(3) on the convening of extraordinary meetings.

C.6 On receipt of the Committee's report;

(a) the Cabinet will consider/reconsider the Deferred Decision/ Suspended 
Decision and the contents of the Committee's report before coming to a 
final decision. Providing the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is 
not contrary to the budget or policy framework, the Cabinet may or may 
not amend the Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision before reaching 
a final decision and implementing it; or

(b) the GAC will consider the Call-in and may object to the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision in which case the Deferred 
Decision/Suspended Decision will be referred back to the Cabinet (with 
the GAC's views) for consideration/reconsideration.  Unless the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision is contrary to the budget or 
policy framework, the Cabinet may choose whether to amend the 
Deferred Decision/Suspended Decision or not before reaching a final 
decision and implementing it.

NB: The GAC has no locus to make a decision in respect of a Cabinet 
decision unless the Cabinet decision is contrary to or not wholly 
consistent with the budget or policy framework agreed/adopted by the 
Council.

C.7 Following the Cabinet's consideration of a Deferred Decision or 
reconsideration of a Suspended Decision, the decisions(s) will take effect i.e. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

7

be implemented immediately. In addition, a Suspended Decision will become 
effective:

(a) on the date of the GAC meeting where the Call-in has been referred to 
the GAC and the GAC does not object to the Suspended Decision 
and/or does not refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet.

(b) on the date of the Committee meeting, where the Committee does not 
refer the Suspended Decision back to the Cabinet or to the GAC. 

C.8 A Call-in (i.e. the decision itself) cannot be the subject of further scrutiny after 
implementation, pursuant to the draw down mechanism detailed in section A 
of this Protocol.

NB: This restriction does not preclude a subsequent draw-down of the 
subject matter of the decision for purposes related for example, to topic 
scrutiny or reporting on matters of local concern.

C.9 This Call-in procedure will not apply to urgent Cabinet decisions and/or 
action to be taken by the Cabinet which need to be implemented urgently.  
The definition of 'urgency' means any matter of immediate urgency (i.e. 
where any delay likely to be caused by the Call-in would prejudice the 
Council's or the public's interest), making the prompt exercise of the powers 
of the Cabinet, in consultation with the Managing Director and the Monitoring 
Officer/Chief Finance Officer desirable and/or necessary and which cannot 
await the next meeting of the Cabinet, or the next ordinary meeting of the 
GAC.

NB: The definition of 'urgency' as detailed above, excludes urgent key 
decisions under Standing Order 54(8) (Special Urgency) and urgent 
departure decisions under Standing Order 55(3) (Decisions outside the 
Budget or Policy Framework).

C.10 Cabinet decisions and/or actions to be taken which are not subject to Call-in 
will take effect, i.e. be implemented immediately.

C.11 Subject to the draw down rules in section A.2 of this Protocol, the Committee 
may only Call-in two decisions per three-month period.  

C.12 Key decisions of Officers, area committees/joint arrangements (referred to in 
the Cabinet's Forward Plan) may be subject to individual Call-in in 
accordance with the procedure detailed in this Protocol.

C.13 Call-in will not apply to urgent departure decisions (refer to Standing Order 
55(3)) and urgent key decisions (refer to Standing Order 54(8)).

C.14 The rules detailed in sections B and D of this Protocol will apply to an 
individual Call-in.

C.15 A CCfA does not provide an additional opportunity for a Cabinet decision to 
be challenged.  A previous Call-in will only be relevant, if the circumstances 
of the Call-in and the CCfA are clearly different. 

C.16 The operation of this Call-in procedure will be monitored annually by the 
Monitoring Officer and if necessary, a report submitted to the GAC with 
proposals for review.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

8

D.Participants
D.1 The nature of a Call-in, the item to be drawn down or the nature of the topic 

under scrutiny will generally determine who participates in the proceedings 
of the Committee.

D.2 Persons required to attend if summoned 

Subject to the rules on participation at section D.7 of this Protocol, the giving 
of 14 clear days’ notice, (fourteen weekdays i.e. 14 periods of 24 hours 
running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and public holidays and 
the day on which the meeting is held) and information being provided as to 
the nature and scope of the scrutiny:

Cabinet members and Council Officers

Cabinet members and Council Officers may be required to attend Committee 
meetings, to give evidence, make representations and/or answer questions 
((Section 21(13) Local Government Act 2000).

Health Service scrutiny

The Committee may require the attendance of any member or employee of 
a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to answer questions 
(reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

D.3

D.3A

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. 

Members of the community and other organisations/stakeholders etc. may 
be invited (but cannot be compelled) to attend the Committee, to make 
representations, answer questions or give evidence. 

Where the Committee seeks to engage with the third sector (voluntary and 
community groups), it will respect the principles of the Council’s Compact.

Lead Members 

Subject to the rules detailed in section D.7(a) to (c) of this Protocol, Lead 
Members who are members of the Committee may be requested (but cannot 
be compelled) to make representations, answer questions or give evidence 
on their respective portfolios. 

D.4 Expert advisors and assessors 

The Committee may consider the available options for future direction in the 
development of policies and may appoint experts, advisors and assessors to 
assist the Committee in the process.

D.5 Councillors who are not members of the Committee

The rules detailed in Standing Order 36, will apply to the attendance at 
Committee meetings, of Councillors who are not members of the Committee.

D.6 The scrutiny of an item may need to be deferred pending the availability of 
a participant to attend, when summoned or invited.  In these circumstances, 
Member Services will advise the Committee Chairman accordingly.

D.7 Participation Rules



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

9

(a) The nomination of specific Cabinet members and Lead Members as 
participants and any necessary substitutions, will be within the discretion 
of the Cabinet Chairman and, in relation to Officer participants, within 
the discretion of the Managing Director.

(b) Subject to paras. (a) and (c) of this section D.7 and section V.6 of this 
Protocol, any Lead Member(s) may attend meetings of the Committee 
and with the consent of the Chairman, make representations, answer 
questions or give evidence on the subject matter of their relevant 
portfolio. 

(c) Lead Members who are members of the Committee cannot be involved 
in the scrutiny process of their relevant portfolio unless they are 
substituted on the Committee and in doing so, the Lead Member’s role 
is limited to making representations, answering questions or giving 
evidence on the subject matter. Once substituted, the Lead Member, as 
an ordinary member of the Committee, cannot vote at the meeting even 
if he/she is able to attend at a later stage of the meeting and can only 
speak with the permission of the Chairman.

(d) The Managing Director may restrict the attendance of Council Officers 
to above a certain grade or in accordance with other criteria to ensure 
that junior Officers are not put under undue pressure.  This restriction is 
consistent with the European Convention on Human Rights.

(e) The Chairman and Shadow Chairman (collectively), reserve the right 
(supported by detailed reasoning to the Cabinet Chairman or Managing 
Director (as appropriate)), to strongly request the attendance of a 
named Cabinet member(s), Lead Members, Council Officer(s), and 
representative of the Responsible Person or relevant body, as 
participants in the proceedings of the Committee, subject to written 
notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day before 
the Committee meeting i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank 
and public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

(f) Council Officers who are subject to disciplinary proceedings and/or 
investigation will not be called as participants.

(g) When questioning participants, due regard will be had to the 
Compliance Principles referred to in this Protocol and to paras.(f) and 
(g) below.  Participants may leave the meeting on the conclusion of their 
particular issues.

(h) Participants may decline to answer questions in open session of the 
Committee on the grounds that the answer might disclose information 
that would be exempt or confidential under the access to information 
provisions.  In that event, the Committee may resolve to exclude the 
public and the press in accordance with Standing Orders in order that 
the question may be answered in private session.

(i) Participants are not obliged to answer any question which they would 
be entitled to refuse to answer in a court of law for example any question 
relating to a participant’s past conduct/actions which could not be 
answered without acknowledging or referring to possible inappropriate 
conduct/actions/inactions.

(j) To better inform the Committee, participants may be required to provide 
their evidence in writing and may be questioned by the Committee on 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

10

that evidence.

(k) The substance (rather than the detail) of oral evidence and participants' 
responses will be documented by the Committee Co - ordinator and 
circulated to them for comment, before the next meeting of the 
Committee.

(l) Participants may be asked to explain:

(i) what the policies are;

(ii) the justification and objectives of those policies;

(iii) the extent to which those objectives may have been met;

(iv)how administrative factors may have affected both the choice of the 
policy measures and the manner of their implementation.

(m) Participants may be asked explain and justify;

• advice they have given prior to decisions being taken;
• decisions they themselves have taken under delegations from the 

Cabinet etc.

NB: far as possible, Council Officers should avoid being drawn into 
discussions on the merits of alternative policies where this is politically 
contentious.  Any comment by Council Officers on the Cabinet's 
policies and actions should always be consistent with the requirement 
for Officers to be politically neutral.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

11

E. Councillor Calls for 
Action (CCfA)
E.1 Subject to the ‘excluded matters’ rule detailed in section E.2 and the 

restrictions detailed in sections E4, E5, E7 and E10 of this Protocol, any ward 
Member may refer to the Committee for scrutiny, any local government 
matter.

The flowchart at Annex 1 describes the CCfA procedure.

E.2 Excluded matters
A CCfA cannot be championed in relation to matters associated with crime 
and disorder, licensing, planning, or a matter where there is already a 
statutory right of review or appeal (other than the right to complain to the 
Local Government Ombudsman), or a matter which is vexatious, 
discriminatory or not reasonable to be included on the agenda for, or to be 
discussed at, a meeting of the Committee (reg. 3. of the Overview and 
Scrutiny (Reference by Councillors) (Excluded Matters) (England) Order 
2012). 

E.3 A matter does not fall within a description of an ‘excluded matter’ if it consists 
of an allegation that a function for which the Council is responsible has not 
been discharged at all or that its discharge has failed or is failing on a 
systematic basis, notwithstanding the fact that the allegation specifies or 
refers to an excluded matter.

E.4 Referral of a genuine, significant and persistent local community concern by 
the local ward Member as a CCfA for scrutiny is a measure of last resort, 
once other approaches for informal resolution have been exhausted.  Local 
ward Members are advised to seek advice from the relevant Director before 
agreeing to champion a CCfA.

E.5 The CCfA may be referred for scrutiny on behalf of a constituent, or on the 
local ward Member’s own initiative, providing the local ward Member has the 
support of the local community and the Member does not have a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the matter.  



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

12

E.6 The Committee may receive a CCfA via the Cabinet in circumstances where 
the local ward Member has declined to champion the CCfA and the 
constituent has then referred the issue to the Cabinet. 

E.7 Subject to the draw down rules at section A.2 of this Protocol, the referral of 
a CCfA to the Committee will be limited to one CCfA per meeting.  

E.8 The referral of a CCfA to the Committee by a local ward Member will be on 
written notification to Member Services, by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting, i.e. 16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).

E.9 The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol will apply. 

E.10 The acceptance of a CCfA will be at the discretion of the Committee.  In 
considering whether or not to accept a CCfA, the Committee may have 
regard to any representations made by the local ward Member as to why it 
would be appropriate for the Committee to accept the CCfA.

E.11 If the Committee decides not to accept the CCfA, Member Services will within 
5 days’ of the meeting, formally notify the ward Member of the Committee’s 
decision and the reasons for it.  The Committee’s decision is final.  There is 
no right of appeal.

E.12 The local ward Member may address the Committee (but not vote) on the 
matter raised.  

E.13 Following consideration of a CCfA, the Committee may report or recommend 
accordingly to the GAC and/or the Cabinet, the Responsible Person, Kent 
County Council etc.  The rules detailed in sections H and M of this Protocol, 
will apply.  

E.14 The Committee may submit a copy of its report or recommendations to the 
local ward Member or await the GAC’s/Cabinet’s and/or other relevant 
body’s response before doing so.  

F. Committee member 
business

Subject to the rules on draw down detailed in section A.2 of this Protocol, 
any Committee or (sub-committee) member has the legal right [Section 
21A(1) Local Government Act 2000] to place any matter relevant to the 
Committee’s functions on the agenda.  This right will be exercised by giving 
written notice to Member Services by no later than noon on the 16th day 
before a Committee meeting i.e.16 clear days' (sixteen weekdays i.e. 16 
periods of 24 hours running from midnight to midnight excluding bank and 
public holidays and the day on which the meeting is held).  

The rules relating to provision of information and request for participant 
attendance, at sections B and D of this Protocol, will apply. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

13

G. The duty to have 
regard to reports/
recommendations

G.1
When reviewing a decision made but not implemented, the Committee may 
recommend that the decision be reconsidered by the body that made it. 

G.2
The Committee may by notice require the Responsible Person to respond to 
its Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations within 28 days (or as soon as 
reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating what (if 
any) action the body proposes to take (reg. 22(7) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013.  The same principles shall be applied to Cabinet and the 
GAC.

G.3
Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee.

H. Health Service 
Scrutiny

 ‘Local Healthwatch organisation and ‘Local Healthwatch contractor have 
the meaning in sections 222 and 223 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 (as amended);

 ‘Referrer’ means a Local Healthwatch organisation or ‘Local 
Healthwatch contractor;

 ‘Responsible Person’ means a NHS body or a relevant health service 
provider as defined in the National Health Service Act 2006.

H.1 The Committee may scrutinise any matter relating to the planning, provision 
and operation of the health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.21(1) 
Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health 
Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

14

H.2 When scrutinising the planning, provision and operation of the health 
service, the Committee must:

 invite interested parties to comment (reg.21(2)(a) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013); and
 take account of relevant information available to it and in particular, relevant 

information provided by a Referrer (reg.21(2)(b) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

H.3 Where a matter is referred to the Committee by a Referrer, the Committee 
must acknowledge receipt of the referral within 20 working days beginning 
with the date on which the referral was made and keep the Referrer informed 
of any action taken in relation to the matter (reg.21(3) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

H.4 The Responsible Person must provide the Committee with such information 
as the Committee may reasonably require (reg.26 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

H.5 Subject to reasonable notice in accordance with section D.2 of this Protocol 
of this Protocol, the Committee may require the attendance of any member 
or employee of a Responsible Person at the meeting of the Committee to 
answer questions (reg.27 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

H.6 The Committee may make reports and recommendations to a Responsible 
Person on any matter it has reviewed (reg.22(1) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

Reports and recommendations must under reg.22(6) of the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013 include:
(a) an explanation of the matter reviewed;
(b) a list of participants involved in the review; and
(c) an explanation of any recommendations on the matter reviewed.

H.7 Where the Committee requests a response from the Responsible Person, 
the Responsible Person must respond in writing within 28 days of the request 
(reg.22(7) Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and 
Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013).

H.8 Other than in circumstances where there is a risk to the safety or welfare of 
patients or staff, a Responsible Person is required to consult with the 
Committee on any proposal for a substantial development or variation to the 
health service in the Borough of Dartford (reg.23 Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

15

H.9 The Committee may comment on the Responsible Person’s proposal by the 
date specified by the Responsible Person (reg.23(4) Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013).

H.10 In addition to commenting, the Committee may recommend accordingly to 
the Responsible Person in accordance with section J.6 of this Protocol.  
Where the Responsible Person disagrees with the Committee’s 
recommendation, the Responsible Person must notify the Committee and 
the Committee and the Responsible Person must take such reasonable 
steps to try to reach agreement on the recommendation (reg.23(5) Local 
Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) 
Regulations 2013).

H11 Where the Committee is not satisfied that the Responsible Person has 
adequately consulted or the reasons given by it are not adequate, subject to 
complying with regs. 23(7), (8), (10) & (11) of the Local Authority (Public 
Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, the Committee may report to the Secretary of State, who may direct 
accordingly (regs.23(9) and 25 Local Authority (Public Health, Health and 
Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013.  

J. Work programme

J.1
The Committee will be responsible for setting its own work programme and 
in doing so, will take into account wishes of Committee members who are 
not members of the largest political group on the Council.

J.2
Duplication of activities or major additions to the Committee’s work 
programme will be avoided.

J.3 The Committee will receive an annual report on its workings and may make 
recommendations for future work programmes.

K. Appointment of 
independent experts, 
advisers/assessors

K.1
Subject to available resources and GAC authority, the Committee may invite 
independent experts, advisers and assessors to contribute to the overview 
and scrutiny process undertaken by it, its sub-committees or task groups.  
Independent experts, advisers and assessors will have no voting rights and 
will not count for the purposes of establishing a quorum.

K.2 The criteria for selection will be;

(a) candidates must be able to demonstrate to the Chairman an expert 
knowledge of the subject in question;

(b) candidates will have no contact with the Borough Council, which could 
be seen as prejudicial to their independence;

(c) (c) candidates will not be employees of the Council, a person/organisation 
contracted to provide services on behalf of the Council or an employee, 
officer or member of the Kent County Council or the Responsible 
Person.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

16

K.3 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will be expected to comply with 
the principles in the [Member] Code of Conduct, including the requirement to 
declare interests and respecting confidentiality.

K.4 Independent experts, advisers and assessors will receive payment in 
accordance with a standard scale of fees, to be agreed by the Cabinet, plus 
travel and other reasonable/legitimate expenses.

K.5 Independent experts, advisers and assessors may at the Committee’s 
discretion, remain in the meeting room when confidential and/or exempt 
information is being discussed.

K.6 In considering independent experts’, advisers’ and assessors’ 
recommendations, the Committee will have regard to the advice of the 
Council's Statutory Officers (Chief Finance Officer/Section 151 Officer and 
Monitoring Officer) who are legally bound respectively, to report to the GAC 
on inter alia:
 the corporate approach of the Council;
 contravention of law and/or Standing Orders, Financial Regulations;
 unlawfulness, maladministration or injustice;
 vires and propriety of expenditure;
 overall integrity of the budget, capital and revenue and the fiduciary duty 

and responsibility of all Members (Section 112 and 114 Reports).

NB: The GAC retains the ultimate responsibility of censure.

L. Scrutiny reports 
and//or 
recommendations

L.1 All comments, conclusions and recommendations to the Responsible 
Person, GAC and/or Cabinet (referred to in this part of the Protocol as the 
‘relevant body’ will be accompanied by a Scrutiny Report prepared by the 
Committee Co-ordinator, in consultation with the appropriate Officer and the 
Committee Chairman under the existing rules for the preparation of 
committee reports.

L.2 The Scrutiny Report will include:
(a) an explanation of the matter scrutinised;
(b) a summary of the evidence considered;
(c) a list of the participants involved in the scrutiny exercise;
(d) any recommendations on the matter scrutinised, including where 

applicable, an indication of the costs associated with implementing the 
recommendations;

(e) a summary of the views of Members dissenting from the majority 
recommendation(s);

(f) the mechanism for monitoring progress in implementing the 
recommendation(s).



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

17

L.3 All motions (whether passed, rejected, opposed etc.) by the Committee will 
be detailed in the Scrutiny Report.

L.4 The Scrutiny Report and/or recommendations will be published and sent to 
the link officer of the relevant body.

L.5 Where requested by the Committee, a ‘relevant body’ is under an  obligation 
in accordance with section H of this Protocol to consider the Scrutiny Report 
and/or recommendations and respond to the Committee within 28 days (or 
as soon as reasonably possible) of the date of the Scrutiny Report, indicating 
what (if any) action the body proposes to take. 

L.6 The Committee Chairman, may at the request of the ‘relevant body’, attend 
its meeting and present the Scrutiny Report and answer questions.

L.7 If in disagreement with the decision of the Committee, any Councillor(s) who 
expresses a minority view, may through the Committee Chairman, refer a 
'minority view' report to the ‘relevant body’ for consideration and provided 
they do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in the 
matter under discussion, the Councillor may be requested to attend the 
body’s meeting and present their views and answer questions.  

L.8 If at all possible, Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations should be 
included on the agenda of the next available meeting of the ‘relevant body’ 
unless the matter which is the subject of the Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations is scheduled to be considered by the ‘relevant body’ within 
a period of four weeks from the date the Committee issues the Scrutiny 
Report and/or recommendations.  In such circumstances, the Committee's 
Scrutiny Report/recommendations will be considered by the ‘relevant body’ 
in the context of their deliberations on the substantive item on the body’s 
agenda.

L.9 Only one Scrutiny Report per meeting of the ‘relevant body’ may be 
submitted by the Committee for consideration.

L.10 Following receipt of the ‘relevant body’s’ response, the Committee may, by 
motion, move 'that the matter be referred back to the [named] ‘relevant body' 
either 'for further information' or 'for further consideration' or as the case may 
be, with an instruction that some specified action be taken or that the 
Committee considers that no further action is necessary.

L.11 Scrutiny Reports and/or recommendations to the GAC will be copied to the 
Cabinet Chairman.  The GAC will not consider a Scrutiny Report and/or 
recommendations until the Cabinet has had the opportunity to comment.

L.12 Local ward Members and other non - executive Councillors will have the 
opportunity at GAC meetings, to raise issues either through questions, 
motions or through policy and other debates. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

18

M. Cabinet Key 
Decisions

Where the Cabinet has decided not to include a particular decision in a 
Regulation 9 Notice, but the Committee believes that it should have been 
included, the Committee may require the Cabinet to make a report on the 
decision to the GAC in accordance with Standing Order 54(9).  The 
Committee's consideration of any such matter will be in public, but subject to 
the rules on confidential and exempt information.

N. Monitoring Officer 
reports 

The Committee may consider whether it would be appropriate, following 
receipt of a Monitoring Officer report to the Cabinet (and copied to all 
Members of the Council), to hold a short enquiry into the matter which is the 
subject of the report prior to the Cabinet's consideration of it and to 
recommend accordingly to the Cabinet.

P. Consideration of 
items at meetings
P.1 Without prejudice to the rules detailed in Standing Orders on the 

consideration of urgent items, items will not be considered at a meeting of 
the Committee unless included on the agenda for the meeting.  The order 
of business will be as set out in Standing Order 58(10)(a)(i) to and including 
(iii) and the business as otherwise set out in the agenda in accordance with 
Standing Order 58(10)(a)(iv) will be in the order of:

 Call – in;

 decisions and/or actions of the Council, Cabinet and Officers; local 
health service body, Kent County Council;

 local improvement targets;

 MAA economic strategy action plans;

 Draw downs;

 CCfA;

 Key Decisions;

 any other local government matter related to the Council’s/Cabinet’s 
functions;

 Officer decisions pursuant to Standing Order 38 (Delegation of Urgent 
and Routine Matters);

 Minority member business;

 Scrutiny Committee member business;

 Monitoring progress of agreed actions;

 Members’ Information Bulletin. 



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

19

Q.2 The order of business may be altered by the Committee in accordance with 
the rules detailed in Standing Order 58(10)(b).

Q.3 Cabinet decisions and Officer decisions under Standing Order 38 
(Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters) and under the Scheme of 
Delegations to Officers, cannot be reversed or amended.

Q.4 Voting Committee members have a right of access to exempt or confidential 
information considered by the Cabinet, but only if it is relevant to an issue(s) 
before the Committee (Standing Order 51(4)).

Q.5 In exercising its powers, the Committee must respect, support and not 
compromise the duties and responsibilities of other Committees, Boards and 
Panels of the Council. If a scrutiny investigation reveals potential disciplinary 
and probity issues, the Committee will refer the matter to the Managing 
Director.

Q.6 Litigation proceedings by or against the Council must not be prejudiced by 
any scrutiny investigation.  In the circumstances, it may be necessary to 
defer further consideration of the matter until the proceedings have been 
dispensed with.

Q.7 Consultation undertaken by the Committee will not compromise/prejudice 
consultations undertaken by any other Committee/Board of the Council. 

R. Conduct of 
meetings
R.1 Meetings will be open to the public and the press unless confidential and/or 

exempt information is being considered.  The Access to Information 
Procedure Rules detailed in Standing Orders will apply.

R.2 The access to information provisions relating to access to and inspection of 
agenda and connected reports and minutes as detailed in Standing Orders 
will apply.

R.3 Minutes will be drawn up and recorded in accordance with the rules detailed 
in Standing Order 15.

S. Task groups/
informal Member 
working group

S.1 Task groups (or informal Member working groups) may be appointed at any 
time by the Committee to examine specific issues in detail.  Task groups will 
be time limited and will tend to work more flexibly and informally.

S.2 The Committee may appoint any of its Members to work informally with other 
bodies or authorities etc., particularly in relation to external or cross-authority 
scrutiny matters, where this will contribute to the Committee’s functions.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

20

S.3 Whilst a task group cannot substitute for the Committee or exercise the 
formal powers associated respectively with overview and scrutiny (which is 
the preserve of the Committee and its sub-committees), the task group may 
contribute to or inform the overview or scrutiny process.

S.4 Task groups will be made up of no less than 3 Committee members. The 
political balance rules need not apply.

S.5 Because of the relative informality of task group meetings, and the evidence 
gathering nature of much of the discussion, chairing the meetings will involve 
different skills from those required by traditional committee meetings.  The 
task group Chairman will need to be sure that all task group members are 
clear about the purpose of the meeting and are given the opportunity to 
pursue a line of questioning – via a number of supplementary questions if 
necessary.

S.6 The task group may obtain information through different media, including 
face-to-face interviews; questionnaires; focus groups; site visits; reports; 
and written submissions from participants.

S.7 Participants will be offered the opportunity to comment on the accuracy of 
the record of their attendance. 

S.8 Once the evidence is taken, the Committee Co-ordinator will draft a report 
and recommendations to reflect the preliminary views of the task group.  The 
draft report and recommendations will be agreed by the task group 
Chairman before it is circulated to the Cabinet Chairman and the Strategic 
Director for comment.

S.9 The Committee will consider the task group’s report and/or 
recommendations and any comments from the Cabinet Chairman and/or 
Managing Director.

S.10 The Committee will refer the task group’s report and/or recommendations to 
the relevant body i.e. Kent County Council, Responsible Person, GAC 
and/or Cabinet with a note of the debate and any changes arising from the 
debate.

S.11 The Committee may refer the issue back to the task group for further 
consideration.

T. Sub-committees
T.1 The Committee may appoint sub-committees in accordance with the rules 

detailed in Standing Order 58(1)(4) and may delegate any of its functions to 
its sub-committees.

T.2 Sub-committees may exercise the formal powers associated respectively 
with the scrutiny function.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

21

U. Monitoring agreed 
actions
U.1 Agreed actions will form the basis against which performance of the Council, 

Cabinet etc. will be measured.  Progress against action plans will be 
monitored through Covalent [the Council’s performance management 
system] and reported to the Committee annually.

U.2 Where the Committee’s recommendations have not been accepted by the 
body concerned, clear reasons will be given.  Where recommendations have 
been agreed, but expectations have not been met, the issue may be re-
addressed fully by the Committee.

V. Declarations of 
interest
V.1 Elected Councillors and voting co-optees are subject to the [Member] Code 

of Conduct.

V.2 Representatives from the responsible authorities, co-operating body and 
other partner organisations are subject to their respective professional codes 
of conduct. 

V.3 Participants who are not bound by codes of conduct will be subject to the 
Nolan principles of transparency and accountability.

V.4 All participants (including Council Officers) summoned or invited to attend 
Committee meetings, will declare any interests and the nature of the 
interests at the beginning of the meeting or as soon as the interests become 
apparent to them. 

V.5 No Committee members may be involved in scrutinising a decision in which 
they have been directly involved.

V.6 With the exception of Cabinet members who are required to attend the 
Committee to give evidence in accordance with section D of this Protocol, 
any Member at the meeting (not restricted to members of the Committee) 
with a disclosable pecuniary interest or prejudicial interest in a matter, may 
not take part in the discussion or remain in the meeting room or public gallery 
to observe the vote on the matter.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

22

W. Regulatory bodies
W.1 The Council discharges a number of regulatory functions such as 

development control, licensing and other quasi-judicial functions, which 
cannot be the responsibility of the Cabinet.

W.2 The Committee will not scrutinise individual decisions made by the 
Committees, Boards and Panels entrusted to discharge the Council’s 
regulatory functions (the Regulatory Bodies).  Scrutiny of decisions of 
Regulatory Bodies is clearly not an alternative to normal appeals 
procedures.  However, the Committee may make reports and/or 
recommendations to the GAC relating to the discharge of any Regulatory 
Body’s functions.

W.3 Scrutiny of the discharge of a Regulatory Body’s functions will be restricted 
to one per Committee meeting on notice by the Committee Chairman and 
the Shadow Chairman.  The rules detailed in section A. of this Protocol will 
apply. 

X. Review of this 
Protocol

This Protocol will be reviewed on an annual basis or more frequently, if 
experience, circumstances and legislation highlight that amendments are 
required.



June 2019
Overview and Scrutiny/Scrutiny Committee Protocol 

23

ANNEX 1

COUNCILLOR CALL FOR ACTION (CCfA) FLOWCHART
CCfA request – local residents have concerns about significant and persistent problems in their area – they approach the local ward 
Member - local ward Member may also on their initiative, initiate a CCfA and gather support from their local community

First level response

Second level response

Third level response

Fourth level response

Fifth level response

In consultation with relevant Director, local ward Member considers 
whether to agree to champion or reject the CCfA - Log request

Concern not resolved – as last resort, concern referred to 
Scrutiny Committee  

Scrutiny Committee rejects CCFA (see Committee’s 
Protocol for procedure) Scrutiny Committee accepts CCfA and considers 

issue in accordance with Committee’s Protocol

Scrutiny Committee compiles report and 
recommendations to Cabinet/GAC, local health 
service body, KCC etc. (refer to Committee’s 
Protocol)

Local ward Member notified 
with written reasons

Cabinet/GAC, NHS body and KCC etc. consider 
recommendations and respond within 2 months, 
setting out reasons for any inaction

Scrutiny Committee considers and publishes 
responses to scrutiny recommendations Feedback to local ward Member 

Before agreeing, Director to 
undertake screening/filter 
checks (section 6 of Guide)

Refuse to champion  and 
provide constituent/local ward 
Member with written reasons for 
refusal

Agree to champion

First attempt to resolve the concerns informally in consultation 
with relevant parties e.g. Lead Member, CDRP etc. (section 11 
of Guide) – Log attempt to resolve Concern resolved 





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 JULY 2019

MINISTRY OF HOUSING, COMMUNITIES & LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
STATUTORY GUIDANCE ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY IN 
LOCAL AND COMBINED AUTHORITIES

1. Summary

1.1 This report presents Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and 
Combined Authorities published by the Ministry of Housing, Communities & 
Local Government (MHC&LG) in May 2019.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Statutory Guidance from the MHC&LG on Overview and Scrutiny in 
Local and Combined Authorities (attached as Appendix A to this report) be 
noted. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. On 7 May 2019, the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government (MHC&LG) published statutory guidance on the overview 
and scrutiny function in local and combined authorities in the areas of 
Culture, Resourcing and Power (to access information). The guidance 
is intended to ensure that local and combined authorities are aware of 
the purpose and benefits of effective overview and scrutiny and how to 
conduct it effectively.

3.2. The Scrutiny Committee’s Protocol (June 2019) considered elsewhere 
in the agenda, addresses the issues highlighted in the MHC&LG 
statutory guidance attached as Appendix A to this report. 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

The overview and scrutiny process increases local democratic accountability 
and visibility of key local public services and partners.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
9 JULY 2019

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A: Statutory Guidance from MHCLG

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

1 July 
2019

David Hook
(01322) 343276

Democratic 
Services / Strategic 
Director (Internal 
Services)

N/A



 

May 2019 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 

 

 

 

 

Statutory Guidance on Overview and 
Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities 

 



 

 

 

© Crown copyright, 2019 

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown. 

You may re-use this information (not including logos) free of charge in any format or medium, 
under the terms of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence visit 
http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/ 

This document/publication is also available on our website at www.gov.uk/mhclg 

If you have any enquiries regarding this document/publication, complete the form at 
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/ or write to us at: 

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government 
Fry Building 
2 Marsham Street 
London  
SW1P 4DF 
Telephone: 030 3444 0000  

For all our latest news and updates follow us on Twitter: https://twitter.com/mhclg 

May 2019 

ISBN: 978-1-4098-5458-6

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://www.gov.uk/mhclg
http://forms.communities.gov.uk/
https://twitter.com/mhclg


 

3 

Contents 

Ministerial Foreword 4 

About this Guidance 5 

1. Introduction and Context 7 

2. Culture 8 

3. Resourcing 13 

4. Selecting Committee Members 15 

5. Power to Access Information 18 

6. Planning Work 21 

7. Evidence Sessions 25 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 27 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging Independent Technical Advisers 28 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching an External Organisation to Appear 
before a Committee 30 

 

 



 

4 

Ministerial Foreword 

The role that overview and scrutiny can play in holding an authority’s decision-makers to 
account makes it fundamentally important to the successful functioning of local 
democracy. Effective scrutiny helps secure the efficient delivery of public services and 
drives improvements within the authority itself. Conversely, poor scrutiny can be indicative 
of wider governance, leadership and service failure. 
 
It is vital that councils and combined authorities know the purpose of scrutiny, what 
effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it and the benefits it can bring. This guidance 
aims to increase understanding in all four areas. 
 
In writing this guidance, my department has taken close note of the House of Commons 
Select Committee report of December 2017, as well as the written and oral evidence 
supplied to that Committee. We have also consulted individuals and organisations with 
practical involvement in conducting, researching and supporting scrutiny. 
 
It is clear from speaking to these practitioners that local and combined authorities with 
effective overview and scrutiny arrangements in place share certain key traits, the most 
important being a strong organisational culture. Authorities who welcome challenge and 
recognise the value scrutiny can bring reap the benefits. But this depends on strong 
commitment from the top - from senior members as well as senior officials. 
 
Crucially, this guidance recognises that authorities have democratic mandates and are 
ultimately accountable to their electorates, and that authorities themselves are best-placed 
to know which scrutiny arrangements are most appropriate for their own individual 
circumstances. 
 
I would, however, strongly urge all councils to cast a critical eye over their existing 
arrangements and, above all, ensure they embed a culture that allows overview and 
scrutiny to flourish. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
      Rishi Sunak MP 
     Minister for Local Government 

  



 

5 

About this Guidance 

Who the guidance is for 
This document is aimed at local authorities and combined authorities in England to help 
them carry out their overview and scrutiny functions effectively. In particular, it provides 
advice for senior leaders, members of overview and scrutiny committees, and support 
officers. 
 

Aim of the guidance 
This guidance seeks to ensure local authorities and combined authorities are aware of the 
purpose of overview and scrutiny, what effective scrutiny looks like, how to conduct it 
effectively and the benefits it can bring. 
 
As such, it includes a number of policies and practices authorities should adopt or should 
consider adopting when deciding how to carry out their overview and scrutiny functions. 
 
The guidance recognises that authorities approach scrutiny in different ways and have 
different processes and procedures in place, and that what might work well for one 
authority might not work well in another. 
 
The hypothetical scenarios contained in the annexes to this guidance have been included 
for illustrative purposes, and are intended to provoke thought and discussion rather than 
serve as a ‘best’ way to approach the relevant issues. 
 
While the guidance sets out some of the key legal requirements, it does not seek to 
replicate legislation. 
 

Status of the guidance 
This is statutory guidance from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local 
Government. Local authorities and combined authorities must have regard to it when 
exercising their functions. The phrase ‘must have regard’, when used in this context, does 
not mean that the sections of statutory guidance have to be followed in every detail, but 
that they should be followed unless there is a good reason not to in a particular case. 
 
Not every authority is required to appoint a scrutiny committee. This guidance applies to 
those authorities who have such a committee in place, whether they are required to or not. 
 
This guidance has been issued under section 9Q of the Local Government Act 2000 and 
under paragraph 2(9) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development 
and Construction Act 2009, which requires authorities to have regard to this guidance. In 
addition, authorities may have regard to other material they might choose to consider, 
including that issued by the Centre for Public Scrutiny, when exercising their overview and 
scrutiny functions. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

6 

Terminology 
Unless ‘overview’ is specifically mentioned, the term ‘scrutiny’ refers to both overview and 
scrutiny.1 

 
Where the term ‘authority’ is used, it refers to both local authorities and combined 
authorities. 
 
Where the term ‘scrutiny committee’ is used, it refers to an overview and scrutiny 
committee and any of its sub-committees. As the legislation refers throughout to powers 
conferred on scrutiny committees, that is the wording used in this guidance. However, the 
guidance should be seen as applying equally to work undertaken in informal task and 
finish groups, commissioned by formal committees. 
 
Where the term ‘executive’ is used, it refers to executive members. 
 
For combined authorities, references to the ‘executive’ or ‘cabinet’ should be interpreted as 
relating to the mayor (where applicable) and all the authority members. 
 
For authorities operating committee rather than executive arrangements, references to the 
executive or Cabinet should be interpreted as relating to councillors in leadership 
positions. 
 

Expiry or review date 
This guidance will be kept under review and updated as necessary. 
  

                                            
 
1 A distinction is often drawn between ‘overview’ which focuses on the development of 
policy, and ‘scrutiny’ which looks at decisions that have been made or are about to be 
made to ensure they are fit for purpose. 



 

7 

1. Introduction and Context 

1. Overview and scrutiny committees were introduced in 2000 as part of new 
executive governance arrangements to ensure that members of an authority who 
were not part of the executive could hold the executive to account for the decisions 
and actions that affect their communities. 

 
2. Overview and scrutiny committees have statutory powers2 to scrutinise decisions 

the executive is planning to take, those it plans to implement, and those that have 
already been taken/implemented. Recommendations following scrutiny enable 
improvements to be made to policies and how they are implemented. Overview and 
scrutiny committees can also play a valuable role in developing policy. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

3. The requirement for local authorities in England to establish overview and scrutiny 
committees is set out in sections 9F to 9FI of the Local Government Act 2000 as 
amended by the Localism Act 2011. 

 
4. The Localism Act 2011 amended the Local Government Act 2000 to allow councils 

to revert to a non-executive form of governance - the ‘committee system’. Councils 
who adopt the committee system are not required to have overview and scrutiny but 
may do so if they wish. The legislation has been strengthened and updated since 
2000, most recently to reflect new governance arrangements with combined 
authorities. Requirements for combined authorities are set out in Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

 
5. Current overview and scrutiny legislation recognises that authorities are 

democratically-elected bodies who are best-placed to determine which overview 
and scrutiny arrangements best suit their own individual needs, and so gives them a 
great degree of flexibility to decide which arrangements to adopt. 

 
6. In producing this guidance, the Government fully recognises both authorities’ 

democratic mandate and that the nature of local government has changed in recent 
years, with, for example, the creation of combined authorities, and councils 
increasingly delivering key services in partnership with other organisations or 
outsourcing them entirely. 

  

                                            
 
2 Section 9F of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 1 of Schedule 5A to the Local 
Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Effective overview and scrutiny should: 

• Provide constructive ‘critical friend’ challenge; 

• Amplify the voices and concerns of the public; 

• Be led by independent people who take responsibility for their 
role; and 

• Drive improvement in public services. 
 



 

8 

2. Culture 

7. The prevailing organisational culture, behaviours and attitudes of an authority will 
largely determine whether its scrutiny function succeeds or fails. 

 
8. While everyone in an authority can play a role in creating an environment conducive 

to effective scrutiny, it is important that this is led and owned by members, given 
their role in setting and maintaining the culture of an authority. 
 

9. Creating a strong organisational culture supports scrutiny work that can add real 
value by, for example, improving policy-making and the efficient delivery of public 
services. In contrast, low levels of support for and engagement with the scrutiny 
function often lead to poor quality and ill-focused work that serves to reinforce the 
perception that it is of little worth or relevance. 

 
10. Members and senior officers should note that the performance of the scrutiny 

function is not just of interest to the authority itself. Its effectiveness, or lack thereof, 
is often considered by external bodies such as regulators and inspectors, and 
highlighted in public reports, including best value inspection reports. Failures in 
scrutiny can therefore help to create a negative public image of the work of an 
authority as a whole. 

 
How to establish a strong organisational culture 

11. Authorities can establish a strong organisational culture by: 
 

a) Recognising scrutiny’s legal and democratic legitimacy – all members and 
officers should recognise and appreciate the importance and legitimacy the 
scrutiny function is afforded by the law. It was created to act as a check and 
balance on the executive and is a statutory requirement for all authorities 
operating executive arrangements and for combined authorities. 
 
Councillors have a unique legitimacy derived from their being democratically 
elected. The insights that they can bring by having this close connection to local 
people are part of what gives scrutiny its value.  
 

b) Identifying a clear role and focus – authorities should take steps to ensure 
scrutiny has a clear role and focus within the organisation, i.e. a niche within 
which it can clearly demonstrate it adds value. Therefore, prioritisation is 
necessary to ensure the scrutiny function concentrates on delivering work that 
is of genuine value and relevance to the work of the wider authority – this is one 
of the most challenging parts of scrutiny, and a critical element to get right if it is 
to be recognised as a strategic function of the authority (see chapter 6). 
 
Authorities should ensure a clear division of responsibilities between the 
scrutiny function and the audit function. While it is appropriate for scrutiny to pay 
due regard to the authority’s financial position, this will need to happen in the 
context of the formal audit role. The authority’s section 151 officer should advise 
scrutiny on how to manage this dynamic. 



 

9 

 
While scrutiny has no role in the investigation or oversight of the authority’s 
whistleblowing arrangements, the findings of independent whistleblowing 
investigations might be of interest to scrutiny committees as they consider their 
wider implications. Members should always follow the authority’s constitution 
and associated Monitoring Officer directions on the matter. Further guidance on 
whistleblowing can be found at: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/att
achment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-
and-code-of-practice.pdf. 
 

c) Ensuring early and regular engagement between the executive and 
scrutiny – authorities should ensure early and regular discussion takes place 
between scrutiny and the executive, especially regarding the latter’s future work 
programme. Authorities should, though, be mindful of their distinct roles: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
d) Managing disagreement – effective scrutiny involves looking at issues that can 

be politically contentious. It is therefore inevitable that, at times, an executive 
will disagree with the findings or recommendations of a scrutiny committee. 
 
It is the job of both the executive and scrutiny to work together to reduce the risk 
of this happening, and authorities should take steps to predict, identify and act 
on disagreement. 
 
One way in which this can be done is via an ‘executive-scrutiny protocol’ (see 
annex 1) which can help define the relationship between the two and mitigate 
any differences of opinion before they manifest themselves in unhelpful and 
unproductive ways. The benefit of this approach is that it provides a framework 
for disagreement and debate, and a way to manage it when it happens. Often, 

In particular: 
 

• The executive should not try to exercise control over the work of 
the scrutiny committee. This could be direct, e.g. by purporting to 
‘order’ scrutiny to look at, or not look at, certain issues, or 
indirect, e.g. through the use of the whip or as a tool of political 
patronage, and the committee itself should remember its 
statutory purpose when carrying out its work. All members and 
officers should consider the role the scrutiny committee plays to 
be that of a ‘critical friend’ not a de facto ‘opposition’. Scrutiny 
chairs have a particular role to play in establishing the profile and 
nature of their committee (see chapter 4); and 

 

• The chair of the scrutiny committee should determine the nature 
and extent of an executive member’s participation in a scrutiny 
committee meeting, and in any informal scrutiny task group 
meeting. 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/415175/bis-15-200-whistleblowing-guidance-for-employers-and-code-of-practice.pdf


 

10 

the value of such a protocol lies in the dialogue that underpins its preparation. It 
is important that these protocols are reviewed on a regular basis. 
 
Scrutiny committees do have the power to ‘call in’ decisions, i.e. ask the 
executive to reconsider them before they are implemented, but should not view 
it as a substitute for early involvement in the decision-making process or as a 
party-political tool. 
 

e) Providing the necessary support – while the level of resource allocated to 
scrutiny is for each authority to decide for itself, when determining resources an 
authority should consider the purpose of scrutiny as set out in legislation and 
the specific role and remit of the authority’s own scrutiny committee(s), and the 
scrutiny function as a whole. 
 
Support should also be given by members and senior officers to scrutiny 
committees and their support staff to access information held by the authority 
and facilitate discussions with representatives of external bodies (see chapter 
5). 
 

f) Ensuring impartial advice from officers – authorities, particularly senior 
officers, should ensure all officers are free to provide impartial advice to scrutiny 
committees. This is fundamental to effective scrutiny. Of particular importance is 
the role played by ‘statutory officers’ – the monitoring officer, the section 151 
officer and the head of paid service, and where relevant the statutory scrutiny 
officer. These individuals have a particular role in ensuring that timely, relevant 
and high-quality advice is provided to scrutiny.  
 

g) Communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider authority – the 
scrutiny function can often lack support and recognition within an authority 
because there is a lack of awareness among both members and officers about 
the specific role it plays, which individuals are involved and its relevance to the 
authority’s wider work. Authorities should, therefore, take steps to ensure all 
members and officers are made aware of the role the scrutiny committee plays 
in the organisation, its value and the outcomes it can deliver, the powers it has, 
its membership and, if appropriate, the identity of those providing officer 
support. 
 

h) Maintaining the interest of full Council in the work of the scrutiny 
committee – part of communicating scrutiny’s role and purpose to the wider 
authority should happen through the formal, public role of full Council – 
particularly given that scrutiny will undertake valuable work to highlight 
challenging issues that an authority will be facing and subjects that will be a 
focus of full Council’s work. Authorities should therefore take steps to ensure full 
Council is informed of the work the scrutiny committee is doing. 
 
One way in which this can be done is by reports and recommendations being 
submitted to full Council rather than solely to the executive. Scrutiny should 
decide when it would be appropriate to submit reports for wider debate in this 
way, taking into account the relevance of reports to full Council business, as 
well as full Council’s capacity to consider and respond in a timely manner. Such 



 

11 

reports would supplement the annual report to full Council on scrutiny’s 
activities and raise awareness of ongoing work. 
 
In order to maintain awareness of scrutiny at the Combined Authority and 
provoke dialogue and discussion of its impact, the business of scrutiny should 
be reported to the Combined Authority board or to the chairs of the relevant 
scrutiny committees of constituent and non-constituent authorities, or both. At 
those chairs’ discretion, particular Combined Authority scrutiny outcomes, and 
what they might mean for each individual area, could be either discussed by 
scrutiny in committee or referred to full Council of the constituent authorities.  
 

i) Communicating scrutiny’s role to the public – authorities should ensure 
scrutiny has a profile in the wider community. Consideration should be given to 
how and when to engage the authority’s communications officers, and any other 
relevant channels, to understand how to get that message across. This will 
usually require engagement early on in the work programming process (see 
chapter 6). 
 

j) Ensuring scrutiny members are supported in having an independent 
mindset – formal committee meetings provide a vital opportunity for scrutiny 
members to question the executive and officers. 
 
Inevitably, some committee members will come from the same political party as 
a member they are scrutinising and might well have a long-standing personal, 
or familial, relationship with them (see paragraph 25). 
 
Scrutiny members should bear in mind, however, that adopting an independent 
mind-set is fundamental to carrying out their work effectively. In practice, this is 
likely to require scrutiny chairs working proactively to identify any potentially 
contentious issues and plan how to manage them. 

 
Directly-elected mayoral systems 

12. A strong organisational culture that supports scrutiny work is particularly important 
in authorities with a directly-elected mayor to ensure there are the checks and 
balances to maintain a robust democratic system. Mayoral systems offer the 
opportunity for greater public accountability and stronger governance, but there 
have also been incidents that highlight the importance of creating and maintaining a 
culture that puts scrutiny at the heart of its operations.  

 
13. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should ensure that scrutiny committees are 

well-resourced, are able to recruit high-calibre members and that their scrutiny 
functions pay particular attention to issues surrounding: 

• rights of access to documents by the press, public and councillors; 

• transparent and fully recorded decision-making processes, especially 
avoiding decisions by ‘unofficial’ committees or working groups; 

• delegated decisions by the Mayor; 

• whistleblowing protections for both staff and councillors; and 

• powers of Full Council, where applicable, to question and review. 
 



 

12 

14. Authorities with a directly-elected mayor should note that mayors are required by 
law to attend overview and scrutiny committee sessions when asked to do so (see 
paragraph 44). 

  



 

13 

3. Resourcing 

15. The resource an authority allocates to the scrutiny function plays a pivotal role in 
determining how successful that function is and therefore the value it can add to the 
work of the authority. 

 
16. Ultimately it is up to each authority to decide on the resource it provides, but every 

authority should recognise that creating and sustaining an effective scrutiny function 
requires them to allocate resources to it. 

 
17. Authorities should also recognise that support for scrutiny committees, task groups 

and other activities is not solely about budgets and provision of officer time, 
although these are clearly extremely important elements. Effective support is also 
about the ways in which the wider authority engages with those who carry out the 
scrutiny function (both members and officers). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
Statutory scrutiny officers 

18. Combined authorities, upper and single tier authorities are required to designate a 
statutory scrutiny officer,3 someone whose role is to: 

• promote the role of the authority’s scrutiny committee; 

• provide support to the scrutiny committee and its members; and 

• provide support and guidance to members and officers relating to the functions 
of the scrutiny committee. 

 

                                            
 
3 Section 9FB of the Local Government Act 2000; article 9 of the Combined Authorities 
(Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 
2017 

When deciding on the level of resource to allocate to the scrutiny 
function, the factors an authority should consider include: 

• Scrutiny’s legal powers and responsibilities; 

• The particular role and remit scrutiny will play in the authority; 

• The training requirements of scrutiny members and support 
officers, particularly the support needed to ask effective 
questions of the executive and other key partners, and make 
effective recommendations; 

• The need for ad hoc external support where expertise does not 
exist in the council; 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny has been shown to add value to 
the work of authorities, improving their ability to meet the needs 
of local people; and 

• Effectively-resourced scrutiny can help policy formulation and so 
minimise the need for call-in of executive decisions. 

 



 

14 

19. Authorities not required by law to appoint such an officer should consider whether 
doing so would be appropriate for their specific local needs. 

 
Officer resource models 

20. Authorities are free to decide for themselves which wider officer support model best 
suits their individual circumstances, though generally they adopt one or a mix of the 
following: 

• Committee – officers are drawn from specific policy or service areas; 

• Integrated – officers are drawn from the corporate centre and also service the 
executive; and 

• Specialist – officers are dedicated to scrutiny. 
 

21. Each model has its merits – the committee model provides service-specific 
expertise; the integrated model facilitates closer and earlier scrutiny involvement in 
policy formation and alignment of corporate work programmes; and the specialist 
model is structurally independent from those areas it scrutinises. 

 
22. Authorities should ensure that, whatever model they employ, officers tasked with 

providing scrutiny support are able to provide impartial advice. This might require 
consideration of the need to build safeguards into the way that support is provided. 
The nature of these safeguards will differ according to the specific role scrutiny 
plays in the organisation. 

  



 

15 

4. Selecting Committee Members 

23. Selecting the right members to serve on scrutiny committees is essential if those 
committees are to function effectively. Where a committee is made up of members 
who have the necessary skills and commitment, it is far more likely to be taken 
seriously by the wider authority. 

 
24. While there are proportionality requirements that must be met,4 the selection of the 

chair and other committee members is for each authority to decide for itself. 
Guidance for combined authorities on this issue has been produced by the Centre 
for Public Scrutiny5. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

25. Authorities are reminded that members of the executive cannot be members of a 
scrutiny committee.6 Authorities should take care to ensure that, as a minimum, 
members holding less formal executive positions, e.g. as Cabinet assistants, do not 
sit on scrutinising committees looking at portfolios to which those roles relate. 
Authorities should articulate in their constitutions how conflicts of interest, including 
familial links (see also paragraph 31), between executive and scrutiny 
responsibilities should be managed, including where members stand down from the 
executive and move to a scrutiny role, and vice-versa. 

 
26. Members or substitute members of a combined authority must not be members of 

its overview and scrutiny committee.7 This includes the Mayor in Mayoral Combined 
Authorities. It is advised that Deputy Mayors for Policing and Crime are also not 
members of the combined authority’s overview and scrutiny committee. 

 
Selecting individual committee members 

27. When selecting individual members to serve on scrutiny committees, an authority 
should consider a member’s experience, expertise, interests, ability to act 
impartially, ability to work as part of a group, and capacity to serve. 

 

                                            
 
4 See, for example, regulation 11 of the Local Authorities (Committee System) (England) 
Regulations 2012 (S.I. 2012/1020) and article 4 of the Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 
2017/68). 
5 See pages 15-18 of ‘Overview and scrutiny in combined authorities: a plain English 
guide’: https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-

authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf 
6 Section 9FA(3) of the Local Government Act 2000. 
7 2(3) of Schedule 5A to the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction 
Act 2009 

Members invariably have different skill-sets. What an authority must 
consider when forming a committee is that, as a group, it possesses the 
requisite expertise, commitment and ability to act impartially to fulfil its 
functions. 

https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf
https://www.cfps.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/Overview-and-scrutiny-in-combined-authorities-a-plain-english-guide.pdf


 

16 

28. Authorities should not take into account a member’s perceived level of support for 
or opposition to a particular political party (notwithstanding the wider legal 
requirement for proportionality referred to in paragraph 24). 

 
Selecting a chair 

29. The Chair plays a leadership role on a scrutiny committee as they are largely 
responsible for establishing its profile, influence and ways of working. 

 
30. The attributes authorities should and should not take into account when selecting 

individual committee members (see paragraphs 27 and 28) also apply to the 
selection of the Chair, but the Chair should also possess the ability to lead and build 
a sense of teamwork and consensus among committee members. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

31. Given their pre-eminent role on the scrutiny committee, it is strongly recommended 
that the Chair not preside over scrutiny of their relatives8. Combined authorities 
should note the legal requirements that apply to them where the Chair is an 
independent person9. 

 
32. The method for selecting a Chair is for each authority to decide for itself, however 

every authority should consider taking a vote by secret ballot. Combined Authorities 
should be aware of the legal requirements regarding the party affiliation of their 
scrutiny committee Chair10. 

 
Training for committee members 

33. Authorities should ensure committee members are offered induction when they take 
up their role and ongoing training so they can carry out their responsibilities 
effectively. Authorities should pay attention to the need to ensure committee 
members are aware of their legal powers, and how to prepare for and ask relevant 
questions at scrutiny sessions. 

 
34. When deciding on training requirements for committee members, authorities should 

consider taking advantage of opportunities offered by external providers in the 
sector. 

 
Co-option and technical advice 

35. While members and their support officers will often have significant local insight and 
an understanding of local people and their needs, the provision of outside expertise 
can be invaluable. 

                                            
 
8 A definition of ‘relative’ can be found at section 28(10) of the Localism Act 2011. 
9 See article 5(2) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access 
to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017 (S.I. 2017/68). 
10 Article 5(6) of the Combined Authorities (Overview and Scrutiny Committees, Access to 
Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

Chairs should pay special attention to the need to guard the 
committee’s independence. Importantly, however, they should take care 
to avoid the committee being, and being viewed as, a de facto 
opposition to the executive. 



 

17 

 
36. There are two principal ways to procure this: 

• Co-option – formal co-option is provided for in legislation11. Authorities must 
establish a co-option scheme to determine how individuals will be co-opted onto 
committees; and 

• Technical advisers – depending on the subject matter, independent local 
experts might exist who can provide advice and assistance in evaluating 
evidence (see annex 2). 

  

                                            
 
11 Section 9FA(4) Local Government Act 2000 



 

18 

5. Power to Access Information 

37. A scrutiny committee needs access to relevant information the authority holds, and 
to receive it in good time, if it is to do its job effectively. 

 
38. This need is recognised in law, with members of scrutiny committees enjoying 

powers to access information12. In particular, regulations give enhanced powers to a 
scrutiny member to access exempt or confidential information. This is in addition to 
existing rights for councillors to have access to information to perform their duties, 
including common law rights to request information and rights to request information 
under the Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Environmental Information 
Regulations 2004. 

 
39. When considering what information scrutiny needs in order to carry out its work, 

scrutiny members and the executive should consider scrutiny’s role and the legal 
rights that committees and their individual members have, as well as their need to 
receive timely and accurate information to carry out their duties effectively. 

 
40. Scrutiny members should have access to a regularly available source of key 

information about the management of the authority – particularly on performance, 
management and risk. Where this information exists, and scrutiny members are 
given support to understand it, the potential for what officers might consider 
unfocused and unproductive requests is reduced as members will be able to frame 
their requests from a more informed position. 

 
41. Officers should speak to scrutiny members to ensure they understand the reasons 

why information is needed, thereby making the authority better able to provide 
information that is relevant and timely, as well as ensuring that the authority 
complies with legal requirements. 

 
 
 
 
 

42. The law recognises that there might be instances where it is legitimate for an 
authority to withhold information and places a requirement on the executive to 
provide the scrutiny committee with a written statement setting out its reasons for 
that decision13. However, members of the executive and senior officers should take 
particular care to avoid refusing requests, or limiting the information they provide, 
for reasons of party political or reputational expediency. 

                                            
 
12 Regulation 17 - Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to 
Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10 Combined Authorities (Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
13 Regulation 17(4) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(4) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 

While each request for information should be judged on its individual 
merits, authorities should adopt a default position of sharing the 
information they hold, on request, with scrutiny committee members. 
 

 



 

19 

 
 
 
 
 
 

43. Regulations already stipulate a timeframe for executives to comply with requests 
from a scrutiny member14. When agreeing to such requests, authorities should: 

• consider whether seeking clarification from the information requester could 
help better target the request; and 

• Ensure the information is supplied in a format appropriate to the recipient’s 
needs. 

 

44. Committees should be aware of their legal power to require members of the 
executive and officers to attend before them to answer questions15. It is the duty of 
members and officers to comply with such requests.16 

 
Seeking information from external organisations 

45. Scrutiny members should also consider the need to supplement any authority-held 
information they receive with information and intelligence that might be available 
from other sources, and should note in particular their statutory powers to access 
information from certain external organisations. 

 
46. When asking an external organisation to provide documentation or appear before it, 

and where that organisation is not legally obliged to do either (see annex 3), 
scrutiny committees should consider the following: 

 
a) The need to explain the purpose of scrutiny – the organisation being 

approached might have little or no awareness of the committee’s work, or of an 
authority’s scrutiny function more generally, and so might be reluctant to comply 
with any request; 
 

b) The benefits of an informal approach – individuals from external 
organisations can have fixed perceptions of what an evidence session entails 
and may be unwilling to subject themselves to detailed public scrutiny if they 
believe it could reflect badly on them or their employer. Making an informal 
approach can help reassure an organisation of the aims of the committee, the 
type of information being sought and the manner in which the evidence session 
would be conducted; 
 

                                            
 
14 Regulation 17(2) – Local Government (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012; article 10(2) Combined Authorities (Overview 
and Scrutiny Committees, Access to Information and Audit Committees) Order 2017. 
15 Section 9FA(8) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(6) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 
16 Section 9FA(9) of the Local Government Act 2000; paragraph 2(7) of Schedule 5A to the 
Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009. 

Before an authority takes a decision not to share information it holds, it 
should give serious consideration to whether that information could be 
shared in closed session. 



 

20 

c) How to encourage compliance with the request – scrutiny committees will 
want to frame their approach on a case by case basis. For contentious issues, 
committees might want to emphasise the opportunity their request gives the 
organisation to ‘set the record straight’ in a public setting; and 
 

d) Who to approach – a committee might instinctively want to ask the Chief 
Executive or Managing Director of an organisation to appear at an evidence 
session, however it could be more beneficial to engage front-line staff when 
seeking operational-level detail rather than senior executives who might only be 
able to talk in more general terms. When making a request to a specific 
individual, the committee should consider the type of information it is seeking, 
the nature of the organisation in question and the authority’s pre-existing 
relationship with it. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Following ‘the Council Pound’ 
Scrutiny committees will often have a keen interest in ‘following the 
council pound’, i.e. scrutinising organisations that receive public funding 
to deliver goods and services. 
 
Authorities should recognise the legitimacy of this interest and, where 
relevant, consider the need to provide assistance to scrutiny members 
and their support staff to obtain information from organisations the 
council has contracted to deliver services. In particular, when agreeing 
contracts with these bodies, authorities should consider whether it 
would be appropriate to include a requirement for them to supply 
information to or appear before scrutiny committees. 
 



 

21 

6. Planning Work 

47. Effective scrutiny should have a defined impact on the ground, with the committee 
making recommendations that will make a tangible difference to the work of the 
authority. To have this kind of impact, scrutiny committees need to plan their work 
programme, i.e. draw up a long-term agenda and consider making it flexible enough 
to accommodate any urgent, short-term issues that might arise during the year. 

 
48. Authorities with multiple scrutiny committees sometimes have a separate work 

programme for each committee. Where this happens, consideration should be given 
to how to co-ordinate the various committees’ work to make best use of the total 
resources available. 

 
Being clear about scrutiny’s role 

49. Scrutiny works best when it has a clear role and function. This provides focus and 
direction. While scrutiny has the power to look at anything which affects ‘the area, 
or the area’s inhabitants’, authorities will often find it difficult to support a scrutiny 
function that carries out generalised oversight across the wide range of issues 
experienced by local people, particularly in the context of partnership working. 
Prioritisation is necessary, which means that there might be things that, despite 
being important, scrutiny will not be able to look at. 

 
50. Different overall roles could include having a focus on risk, the authority’s finances, 

or on the way the authority works with its partners. 
 

51. Applying this focus does not mean that certain subjects are ‘off limits’. It is more 
about looking at topics and deciding whether their relative importance justifies the 
positive impact scrutiny’s further involvement could bring. 

 
52. When thinking about scrutiny’s focus, members should be supported by key senior 

officers. The statutory scrutiny officer, if an authority has one, will need to take a 
leading role in supporting members to clarify the role and function of scrutiny, and 
championing that role once agreed. 

 
Who to speak to 

53. Evidence will need to be gathered to inform the work programming process. This 
will ensure that it looks at the right topics, in the right way and at the right time. 
Gathering evidence requires conversations with: 

• The public – it is likely that formal ‘consultation’ with the public on the scrutiny 
work programme will be ineffective. Asking individual scrutiny members to have 
conversations with individuals and groups in their own local areas can work 
better. Insights gained from the public through individual pieces of scrutiny work 
can be fed back into the work programming process. Listening to and 
participating in conversations in places where local people come together, 
including in online forums, can help authorities engage people on their own 
terms and yield more positive results. 
 



 

22 

Authorities should consider how their communications officers can help scrutiny 
engage with the public, and how wider internal expertise and local knowledge 
from both members and officers might make a contribution. 

 

• The authority’s partners – relationships with other partners should not be limited 
to evidence-gathering to support individual reviews or agenda items. A range of 
partners are likely to have insights that will prove useful: 
o Public sector partners (like the NHS and community safety partners, over 

which scrutiny has specific legal powers); 
o Voluntary sector partners; 
o Contractors and commissioning partners (including partners in joint 

ventures and authority-owned companies); 
o In parished areas, town, community and parish councils; 
o Neighbouring principal councils (both in two-tier and unitary areas); 
o Cross-authority bodies and organisations, such as Local Enterprise 

Partnerships17; and 
o Others with a stake and interest in the local area – large local employers, 

for example. 
 

• The executive – a principal partner in discussions on the work programme 
should be the executive (and senior officers). The executive should not direct 
scrutiny’s work (see chapter 2), but conversations will help scrutiny members 
better understand how their work can be designed to align with the best 
opportunities to influence the authority’s wider work. 

 
Information sources 

54. Scrutiny will need access to relevant information to inform its work programme. The 
type of information will depend on the specific role and function scrutiny plays within 
the authority, but might include: 

• Performance information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Finance and risk information from across the authority and its partners; 

• Corporate complaints information, and aggregated information from political 
groups about the subject matter of members’ surgeries; 

• Business cases and options appraisals (and other planning information) for 
forthcoming major decisions. This information will be of particular use for pre-
decision scrutiny; and 

• Reports and recommendations issued by relevant ombudsmen, especially 
the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman. 

                                            
 
17 Authorities should ensure they have appropriate arrangements in place to ensure the 
effective democratic scrutiny of Local Enterprise Partnerships’ investment decisions. 



 

23 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

55. Scrutiny members should consider keeping this information under regular review. It 
is likely to be easier to do this outside committee, rather than bringing such 
information to committee ’to note’, or to provide an update, as a matter of course. 

 
Shortlisting topics 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56. Some authorities use scoring systems to evaluate and rank work programme 
proposals. If these are used to provoke discussion and debate, based on evidence, 
about what priorities should be, they can be a useful tool. Others take a looser 
approach. Whichever method is adopted, a committee should be able to justify how 
and why a decision has been taken to include certain issues and not others. 

 
57. Scrutiny members should accept that shortlisting can be difficult; scrutiny 

committees have finite resources and deciding how these are best allocated is 
tough. They should understand that, if work programming is robust and effective, 
there might well be issues that they want to look at that nonetheless are not 
selected. 

 
Carrying out work 

58. Selected topics can be scrutinised in several ways, including: 

 
a) As a single item on a committee agenda – this often presents a limited 

opportunity for effective scrutiny, but may be appropriate for some issues or 
where the committee wants to maintain a formal watching brief over a given 
issue; 
 

b) At a single meeting – which could be a committee meeting or something less 
formal. This can provide an opportunity to have a single public meeting about a 

As committees can meet in closed session, commercial confidentiality 
should not preclude the sharing of information. Authorities should note, 
however, that the default for meetings should be that they are held in 
public (see 2014 guidance on ‘Open and accountable local 
government’: 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/upl
oads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf). 

Approaches to shortlisting topics should reflect scrutiny’s overall role in 
the authority. This will require the development of bespoke, local 
solutions, however when considering whether an item should be 
included in the work programme, the kind of questions a scrutiny 
committee should consider might include: 

• Do we understand the benefits scrutiny would bring to 
this issue? 

• How could we best carry out work on this subject? 

• What would be the best outcome of this work? 

• How would this work engage with the activity of the 
executive and other decision-makers, including partners? 

 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/343182/140812_Openness_Guide.pdf


 

24 

given subject, or to have a meeting at which evidence is taken from a number of 
witnesses; 
 

c) At a task and finish review of two or three meetings – short, sharp scrutiny 
reviews are likely to be most effective even for complex topics. Properly 
focused, they ensure members can swiftly reach conclusions and make 
recommendations, perhaps over the course of a couple of months or less; 
 

d) Via a longer-term task and finish review – the ‘traditional’ task and finish 
model – with perhaps six or seven meetings spread over a number of months – 
is still appropriate when scrutiny needs to dig into a complex topic in significant 
detail. However, the resource implications of such work, and its length, can 
make it unattractive for all but the most complex matters; and 
 

e) By establishing a ‘standing panel’ – this falls short of establishing a whole 
new committee but may reflect a necessity to keep a watching brief over a 
critical local issue, especially where members feel they need to convene 
regularly to carry out that oversight. Again, the resource implications of this 
approach means that it will be rarely used. 

  



 

25 

7. Evidence Sessions 

59. Evidence sessions are a key way in which scrutiny committees inform their work. 
They might happen at formal committee, in less formal ‘task and finish’ groups or at 
standalone sessions. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
How to plan 

60. Effective planning does not necessarily involve a large number of pre-meetings, the 
development of complex scopes or the drafting of questioning plans. It is more often 
about setting overall objectives and then considering what type of questions (and 
the way in which they are asked) can best elicit the information the committee is 
seeking. This applies as much to individual agenda items as it does for longer 
evidence sessions – there should always be consideration in advance of what 
scrutiny is trying to get out of a particular evidence session. 

 
 
 
 
 

61. As far as possible there should be consensus among scrutiny members about the 
objective of an evidence session before it starts. It is important to recognise that 
members have different perspectives on certain issues, and so might not share the 
objectives for a session that are ultimately adopted. Where this happens, the Chair 
will need to be aware of this divergence of views and bear it in mind when planning 
the evidence session. 

 
62. Effective planning should mean that at the end of a session it is relatively 

straightforward for the chair to draw together themes and highlight the key findings. 
It is unlikely that the committee will be able to develop and agree recommendations 
immediately, but, unless the session is part of a wider inquiry, enough evidence 
should have been gathered to allow the chair to set a clear direction. 

 
63. After an evidence session, the committee might wish to hold a short ‘wash-up’ 

meeting to review whether their objectives were met and lessons could be learned 
for future sessions. 

 
Developing recommendations 

64. The development and agreement of recommendations is often an iterative process. 
It will usually be appropriate for this to be done only by members, assisted by co-
optees where relevant. When deciding on recommendations, however, members 
should have due regard to advice received from officers, particularly the Monitoring 
Officer. 

Good preparation is a vital part of conducting effective evidence 
sessions. Members should have a clear idea of what the committee 
hopes to get out of each session and appreciate that success will 
depend on their ability to work together on the day. 

Chairs play a vital role in leading discussions on objective-setting and 
ensuring all members are aware of the specific role each will play during 
the evidence session. 
 



 

26 

 
65. The drafting of reports is usually, but not always, carried out by officers, directed by 

members. 
 

66. Authorities draft reports and recommendations in a number of ways, but there are 
normally three stages: 

 
i. the development of a ‘heads of report’ – a document setting out general 

findings that members can then discuss as they consider the overall structure 
and focus of the report and its recommendations; 
 

ii. the development of those findings, which will set out some areas on which 
recommendations might be made; and  
 

iii. the drafting of the full report. 
 

67. Recommendations should be evidence-based and SMART, i.e. specific, 
measurable, achievable, relevant and timed. Where appropriate, committees may 
wish to consider sharing them in draft with interested parties. 

 
68. Committees should bear in mind that often six to eight recommendations are 

sufficient to enable the authority to focus its response, although there may be 
specific circumstances in which more might be appropriate. 

 
 
 
  

Sharing draft recommendations with executive members should not 
provide an opportunity for them to revise or block recommendations 
before they are made. It should, however, provide an opportunity for 
errors to be identified and corrected, and for a more general sense-
check. 



 

27 

Annex 1: Illustrative Scenario – Creating an 
Executive-Scrutiny Protocol 

An executive-scrutiny protocol can deal with the practical expectations of scrutiny 
committee members and the executive, as well as the cultural dynamics. 
 
Workshops with scrutiny members, senior officers and Cabinet can be helpful to inform the 
drafting of a protocol. An external facilitator can help bring an independent perspective.  
 
Councils should consider how to adopt a protocol, e.g. formal agreement at scrutiny 
committee and Cabinet, then formal integration into the Council’s constitution at the next 
Annual General Meeting. 
 
The protocol, as agreed, may contain sections on: 
 

• The way scrutiny will go about developing its work programme (including the ways 
in which senior officers and Cabinet members will be kept informed); 

• The way in which senior officers and Cabinet will keep scrutiny informed of the 
outlines of major decisions as they are developed, to allow for discussion of 
scrutiny’s potential involvement in policy development. This involves the building in 
of safeguards to mitigate risks around the sharing of sensitive information with 
scrutiny members; 

• A strengthening and expansion of existing parts of the code of conduct that relate to 
behaviour in formal meetings, and in informal meetings; 

• Specification of the nature and form of responses that scrutiny can expect when it 
makes recommendations to the executive, when it makes requests to the executive 
for information, and when it makes requests that Cabinet members or senior 
officers attend meetings; and 

• Confirmation of the role of the statutory scrutiny officer, and Monitoring Officer, in 
overseeing compliance with the protocol, and ensuring that it is used to support the 
wider aim of supporting and promoting a culture of scrutiny, with matters relating to 
the protocol’s success being reported to full Council through the scrutiny Annual 
Report. 

  



 

28 

Annex 2: Illustrative Scenario – Engaging 
Independent Technical Advisers 

This example demonstrates how one Council’s executive and scrutiny committee worked 
together to scope a role and then appoint an independent adviser on transforming social 
care commissioning. Their considerations and process may be helpful and applicable in 
other similar scenarios.   
 
Major care contracts were coming to an end and the Council took the opportunity to review 
whether to continue with its existing strategic commissioning framework, or take a different 
approach – potentially insourcing certain elements. 
 
The relevant Director was concerned about the Council’s reliance on a very small number 
of large providers. The Director therefore approached the Scrutiny and Governance 
Manager to talk through the potential role scrutiny could play as the Council considered 
these changes. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair wanted to look at this issue in some depth, but recognised its 
complexity could make it difficult for her committee to engage – she was concerned it 
would not be able to do the issue justice. The Director offered support from his own officer 
team, but the Chair considered this approach to be beset by risks around the 
independence of the process. 
 
She talked to the Director about securing independent advice. He was worried that an 
independent adviser could come with preconceived ideas and would not understand the 
Council’s context and objectives. The Scrutiny Chair was concerned that independent 
advice could end up leading to scrutiny members being passive, relying on an adviser to 
do their thinking for them. They agreed that some form of independent assistance would 
be valuable, but that how it was provided and managed should be carefully thought out. 
 
With the assistance of the Governance and Scrutiny Manager, the Scrutiny Chair 
approached local universities and Further Education institutions to identify an appropriate 
individual. The approach was clear – it set out the precise role expected of the adviser, 
and explained the scrutiny process itself. Because members wanted to focus on the risks 
of market failure, and felt more confident on substantive social care matters, the approach 
was directed at those with a specialism in economics and business administration. The 
Council’s search was proactive – the assistance of the service department was drawn on 
to make direct approaches to particular individuals who could carry out this role. 
 
It was agreed to make a small budget available to act as a ‘per diem’ to support an 
adviser; academics were approached in the first instance as the Council felt able to make 
a case that an educational institution would provide this support for free as part of its 
commitment to Corporate Social Responsibility. 
 
Three individuals were identified from the Council’s proactive search. The Chair and Vice-
Chair of the committee had an informal discussion with each – not so much to establish 
their skills and expertise (which had already been assessed) but to give a sense about 



 

29 

their ‘fit’ with scrutiny’s objectives and their political nous in understanding the environment 
in which they would operate, and to satisfy themselves that they will apply themselves 
even-handedly to the task. The Director sat in on this process but played no part in who 
was ultimately selected. 
 
The independent advice provided by the selected individual gave the Scrutiny Committee 
a more comprehensive understanding of the issue and meant it was able to offer informed 
advice on the merits of putting in place a new strategic commissioning framework. 
  



 

30 

Annex 3: Illustrative Scenario – Approaching 
an External Organisation to Appear before a 
Committee 

This example shows how one council ensured a productive scrutiny meeting, involving a 
private company and the public. Lessons may be drawn and apply to other similar 
scenarios.  
 
Concerns had been expressed by user groups, and the public at large, about the reliability 
of the local bus service. The Scrutiny Chair wanted to question the bus company in a 
public evidence session but knew that she had no power to compel it to attend. Previous 
attempts to engage it had been unsuccessful; the company was not hostile, but said it had 
its own ways of engaging the public. 
 
The Monitoring Officer approached the company’s regional PR manager, but he expressed 
concern that the session would end in a ‘bunfight’. He also explained the company had put 
their improvement plan in the public domain, and felt a big council meeting would 
exacerbate tensions. 
 
Other councillors had strong views about the company – one thought the committee 
should tell the company it would be empty-chaired if it refused to attend. The Scrutiny 
Chair was sympathetic to this, but thought such an approach would not lead to any 
improvements. 
 
The Scrutiny Chair was keen to make progress, but it was difficult to find the right person 
to speak to at the company, so she asked council officers and local transport advocacy 
groups for advice. Speaking to those people also gave her a better sense of what 
scrutiny’s role might be. 
 
When she finally spoke to the company’s network manager, she explained the situation 
and suggested they work together to consider how the meeting could be productive for the 
Council, the company and local people. In particular, this provided her with an opportunity 
to explain scrutiny and its role. The network manager remained sceptical but was 
reassured that they could work together to ensure that the meeting would not be an 
‘ambush’. He agreed in principle to attend and also provide information to support the 
Committee’s work beforehand. 
 
Discussions continued in the four weeks leading up to the Committee meeting. The 
Scrutiny Chair was conscious that while she had to work with the company to ensure that 
the meeting was constructive – and secure their attendance – it could not be a whitewash, 
and other members and the public would demand a hard edge to the discussions. 
 
The scrutiny committee agreed that the meeting would provide a space for the company to 
provide context to the problems local people are experiencing, but that this would be 
preceded by a space on the agenda for the Chair, Vice-chair, and representatives from 
two local transport advocacy groups to set out their concerns. The company were sent in 



 

31 

advance a summary of the general areas on which members were likely to ask questions, 
to ensure that those questions could be addressed at the meeting. 
 
Finally, provision was made for public questions and debate. Those attending the meeting 
were invited to discuss with each other the principal issues they wanted the meeting to 
cover. A short, facilitated discussion in the room led by the Chair highlighted the key 
issues, and the Chair then put those points to the company representatives.  
 
At the end of the meeting, the public asked questions of the bus company representative 
in a 20-minute plenary item. 
 
The meeting was fractious, but the planning carried out to prepare for this – by channelling 
issues through discussion and using the Chair to mediate the questioning – made things 
easier. Some attendees were initially frustrated by this structure, but the company 
representative was more open and less defensive than might otherwise have been the 
case.  
 
The meeting also motivated the company to revise its communications plan to become 
more responsive to this kind of challenge, part of which involved a commitment to feed 
back to the scrutiny committee on the recommendations it made on the night. 
 





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
9 July 2019 

 
 

 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2019-20 

 

 
1. Summary 

 
To identify further items for inclusion in the Committee’s current Work Plan 
for the remainder of the 2019–20 municipal year and to allocate a timeframe 
accordingly. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATION 
 

That the Committee considers the draft Work Plan (attached as Appendix A) 
and identifies further topics for inclusion as appropriate.  
 

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 
 
 3.1 The Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of Reference (ToRs) make provision 

for the Committee to approve an Annual Scrutiny Work Programme 
and to allocate a timeframe for its consideration in a Work Plan to be 
reviewed and updated at each subsequent meeting of the Committee. 
 

 3.2 In setting its own Work Programme and Plan the Committee will take 
into account the minority interest views held by Members on the 
Committee. 
 

 3.3 The Work Programme as detailed in the Plan should ensure that there 
is efficient use of the Committee’s time and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised, especially with regard to the remits 
of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and the Policy 
Overview Committees, as set out in their respective Protocols.  
 

 3.3 In considering whether a particular topic or function should be 
included in the Committee’s Work Programme and Plan, Members 
need to be mindful of the following: 
 

(1) That the primary role of the Committee is to scrutinise 
decisions of the Cabinet that have either been taken or which are 
included in the Regulation 9 Notices for future consideration by 
Cabinet; 
(2) That although the nature of the scrutiny will generally dictate 
who participates in the discussion process, inviting participation 
by other councils to give their experiences is not a scrutiny 
function; but one for the Policy Overview Committee which 
undertakes the overview function; to better inform future policy 
options for the Council; 
 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
9 July 2019 

 
 

  

(3) That discussions on policy statements also fall to the Policy 
Overview Committee to consider who hold the overview function, 
not the Scrutiny Committee; and  
(4) That matters relating to crime and disorder, including anti-
social behaviour (ASB) and Community Safety, fall within the 
remit of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee. 

 
 3.4 
 
 
 
 
3.5  
 

The draft Work Plan (attached at Appendix A) will be subject to review 
at each meeting of the Committee during the current 2019-20 
municipal cycle, to allow new items to be added, or the timing of 
existing items altered. 
 
Work Plan items may be supplemented with additional items on an 
ad-hoc basis prior to scheduled meetings; with the approval of the 
Managing Director as the Responsible Council Officer; within the 
provisions and timescales of the Draw-Down process, as set out in 
the Committee’s Protocol. 

  
 
4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 
 Not applicable. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 

assessments 
 

Financial Implications None 

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 

 
6. Appendices 
 

Appendix A: draft Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2019-20  
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents 
consulted 
 

Date File 
Ref 

Report  
Author 

Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

Committee  
Minutes, ToRs, 
Protocol 
 

July 2019  David Hook 
Member Services  
(01322 343276) 

Member 
Services 
MD 

N/A 

 



Appendix A 

Draft SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 2019-20

9 July 2019 12 November 2019 4 February 2020 14 April 2020

Princes Park Annual Update  Dartford Cricket Club 
Annual Update 

Scrutiny Committee Annual 
Report 2018-19

Orchard Theatre Annual 
Report and Accounts 
year ending 31 March 

2019

Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a.

Agree draft Work Plan 2019-
20

Review Work Plan
2018-19

Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a. Consider Work 
Programme for 2020-21

Reg. 9 Notice Reg. 9 Notice Review 2018-19 Work 
Plan

Reg.9 Notice

Committee Protocol Draw-Down(s) – t.b.a.
Reg. 9 Notice

Statutory Guidance from 
MHCLG




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 20 November 2018
	5 Committee's Terms of Reference (ToRs)
	8 Regulation 9 Notice
	9 Princes Park Annual Update 2018-19
	AppendixA DFC report 18-19

	10 Scrutiny Committee Annual Report 2018-19
	dh.FINAL App. A - Scrutiny Committee DRAFT AR  2018-19

	11 Scrutiny Committee Protocol
	FINAL Scrutiny Committee Protocol

	12 Statutory Guidance on Overview and Scrutiny in Local and Combined Authorities
	Statutory_Guidance_on_Overview_and_Scrutiny_in_Local_and_Combined_Authorities

	13 Committee Rolling Work Programme for 2019-20 and Beyond
	AppendixAdraftScrutinyCommitteeWorkPlan201920


